# Working-class affects: connecting affect theory to trade union revitalization efforts

by Bronwen Barnett

Bachelor of Arts (with Distinction), Simon Fraser University, 2017

Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Arts

in the

School of Communication Faculty of Communication, Art and Technology

> © Bronwen Barnett 2024 SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY Summer, 2024

Copyright in this work is held by the author. Please ensure that any reproduction or re-use is done in accordance with the relevant national copyright legislation.

# **Declaration of Committee**

Name:	Bronwen Barnett		
Degree:	Master of Arts		
Title:	Working-class affects: connecting affect theory to trade union revitalization efforts		
Committee:	Chair:	Martin Laba Associate Professor, Communication	
	Enda Brophy Supervisor Associate Professor, Communication Cait McKinney Committee Member Associate Professor, Communication		
	Examin Associa	<b>nie Ross</b> er ite Professor, Labour Studies ter University	

## **Ethics Statement**

The author, whose name appears on the title page of this work, has obtained, for the research described in this work, either:

a. human research ethics approval from the Simon Fraser University Office of Research Ethics

or

b. advance approval of the animal care protocol from the University Animal Care Committee of Simon Fraser University

or has conducted the research

c. as a co-investigator, collaborator, or research assistant in a research project approved in advance.

A copy of the approval letter has been filed with the Theses Office of the University Library at the time of submission of this thesis or project.

The original application for approval and letter of approval are filed with the relevant offices. Inquiries may be directed to those authorities.

Simon Fraser University Library Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada

Update Spring 2016

# Abstract

In recent years, labour unrest in Canada and elsewhere has led to a resurgence in union organizing, job action and contract gains. This thesis sets out to understand how greater attentiveness to working-class affects or emotions might support this potentially revitalizing moment. Given the limited scholarship in this area, this study connects a literature review of affect theory with radical labour history to develop a framework for thinking about the affective dimensions of collective action within unions. Using that framework, the study then investigates the affective life of two Western Canadian unions through surveys and interviews. The thesis concludes that acknowledging and becoming more intentional in efforts to mediate the affective intensities that circulate, move people and organize life at the level of union membership represents an important focal point as a new cycle of class recomposition potentially takes shape.

**Keywords**: trade unions; affect theory; Canadian labour movement; labour revitalization; working-class culture

## Acknowledgements

Thank you to my committee. My supervisor Dr. Enda Brophy guided me through all the twists and turns of this project from day one. His exceptional experience as a labour and communications scholar, and his enthusiasm and support helped guide this thesis and I'm so grateful he agreed to take me on. Dr. Cait McKinney first taught me about affect theory in their brilliant graduate class and sparked the connection between affect theory and working-class struggle in my mind. And finally, Dr. Stephanie Ross for taking the time to contribute her expertise to this work as my external examiner. I sincerely couldn't have asked for a more perfect trio of scholars to make up my committee and help me shape this work.

To my union comrades, you've taught me so much about the labour movement through what's gone well, and what we continue to learn from every day. And to my interviewees, thank you for taking the time to answer my questions so frankly and thoughtfully – your input was invaluable. Lastly, thank you to the union members I have been fortunate to meet over the years and for teaching me about what it takes as a worker to be brave, and fight for what's right. While this study points out ways members can be disengaged from their unions, I want to acknowledge the thousands of passionate, committed and active union members that keep the labour movement driving forward. The findings of a study like this could not be acted upon without you.

Finally thank you to Wes Regan, my partner in all things. With you pursuing your PhD at the same time, we turned our home into a study hall of sorts – something that helped fill the gap of having to balance school and my full-time job. Through so many conversations, shared research links, and your excitement about my ideas, when in doubt I always had someone to turn to, to bounce ideas off and to invariably get thoughtful, smart advice.

# **Table of Contents**

Decla	ration of	Committee	ii	
Ethics	Statem	ent	. iii	
Abstra	act		.iv	
Ackno	owledger	nents	. v	
Table	of Conte	ents	.vi	
Chap	ter 1.	Introduction	. 1	
1.1.	Introduc	tion	. 1	
1.2.	Outline of the thesis			
1.3.	Working	-class resistance in Canada, two waves		
	1.3.1.	Wartime resistance	. 6	
	1.3.2.	Postwar settlement & decline	. 9	
1.4.	The cult	ural turn	10	
	1.4.1.	From the material to the discursive	12	
	1.4.2.	De-centering the working class	14	
1.5.	Researc	ch problem & questions	15	
1.6.	Significa	ance of the study	16	
Chap	ter 2.	Literature review	19	
		ng affect		
	2.1.1.	5		
	2.1.2.	Affect theory's theoretical grounding		
	2.1.3.	The affective turn		
2.2.	Affect th	ieory		
2.3.				
-	2.3.1.	Affect theory in political struggle		
	2.3.2.	Affect theory & the labour movement		
2.4.	Conclus	sion		
Chan	tor 3	Framework & methodology	<b>11</b>	
-		vork for analysis		
0		Measuring affect		
	3.1.2.	The affective dimensions of collective action		
3.2.		S		
0.2.	3.2.1.	Surveys		
	3.2.2.	Interviews		
3.3.		considerations		
3.4.		ons		
Chap	ter 4.	Research findings	59	
4.1.	Member surveys			
4.2.	Leaders	hip interviews	64	

Chap	oter 5.	Discussion	76
5.1. Overview of findings		76	
	5.1.1.	Affective antagonism	76
	5.1.2.	Affective organizing	77
	5.1.3.	Optimism	79
5.2. Affective unionism		81	
	5.2.1.	Affects are the glues and solvents of collective action	81
	5.2.2.	Centering the worker	82
	5.2.3.	The affective economy of the working class	
	5.2.4.	Power & affective resistance	85
5.3. Affect theory in labour practice			
	5.3.1.	Audience segmentation	
	5.3.2.	Message construction	
	5.3.3.	Telling the story	
	5.3.4.	Workers' continuity	
5.4.	Conclus	sion	91
Refe	rences		93
Appe	endix A.	Survey Questions	108
Appe	endix B.	Interview Questions	111
Appe	endix C.	Coding Categories (NVivo 14)	113
Арре	endix D.	Promotional Materials	114

## Chapter 1. Introduction

What moves people to act are affects, and while ideas are indeed important, their power depends on being connected to affects. —*Chantal* Mouffe, *Towards a Green Democratic Revolution* 

## 1.1. Introduction

For working people all over the world, "class formation is a never ending process" (Franzosi, 294) in which workers creatively experiment with "new forms of workplace organization to defend their interests" as they are confronted with revolutions in production, managerial strategies or state restructuring (MacDonald, 2014, p. 725). Yet this experimentation is only ever as successful as the working-class institutions, political organizations, intellectual traditions, community-patterns and the "working-class structure of feeling" that sustains it (Thompson, 1966, p. 194).

For example, when industrialization first emerged in late 18<sup>th</sup> century Britain and the mode of production transitioned from largely autonomous labour to steam powered factories, such a structure materialized, enabling the growth of a new class consciousness among "diverse groups of working people and against the interests" of the dominant classes (E. P. Thompson, 1966, p. 194). At its base was a radical press which included newspapers like the Poor Man's Guardian or the Working Man's Friend as well as pamphlets published by individual political agitators. British cultural theorist E.P. Thompson described these publications as providing "the very tissues without which the [workers'] movement would have fallen apart" (p. 674). Local autonomous clubs, discussion groups or friendly societies also sprang up in which tradesmen met nightly in taverns, coffee houses and public houses to hear speeches and debate the issues at hand – creating a new habit of political meeting. Even debtor's jails were considered "finishing schools for radicals" as individuals continued to read, argue and expand their networks while imprisoned (632). By 1833, a "working-class presence [could] be felt in every county in England, and in most fields of life" (E. P. Thompson, 1966, p. 807) This led Thompson to declare in The Making of the English Working Class that, "the working-class made itself as much as it was made" (1966, p. 194).

Similarly in the 1930s and 1940s in the U.S., the "unprecedented organization of industrial workers into the new unions" of the Congress of Industrial Organizations (CIO)

occurred alongside the emergence of mass media and the culture industries in which working class people were the audience, producers and consumers of the popular arts and entertainment (Denning, 2010, p. 4). "Mass consumption gave workers common experiences and language" (Friedman, 1993). Whether speaking of norms, beliefs and values or the "texts, artifacts, and performances" of political thinkers, artists or entertainers – all had a "central, indeed shaping, impact on American culture," building significant working-class power over those decades (Denning, 2010, p. 3). However, when capitalism began restructuring around the neoliberal paradigm in major Western countries by the late 1970s, those very community-patterns and infrastructures of dissent (Sears, 2014) built over decades to inform, nourish and sustain working-class feelings and demands began to erode alongside the power of the labour movement.

Indeed, as the renewal literature in Canada, the U.S. and elsewhere over the last three decades demonstrates (see for example: Heery, 2001; Hurd, 2004; P. Kumar et al., 2006; Waterman, 1993), programs and policies seeking to revitalize worker associations have been severely constrained by neoliberal cultural and communicative practices supportive of free market ideologies (D. Kumar, 2007; Martin, 2004). Faced with these challenges, earlier attempts at renewal broadly included a shift from the collective action repertoires of industrial unionism led by the rank-and-file towards social movement unionism with its focus on social justice initiatives engineered by staff and union bureaucracy (MacDonald, 2014; Murray, 2017); concerns with the restoration of union density by consolidating power through mergers, bringing in new leadership, identifying new 'market segments' for unions to move into and other organizing innovations; the adoption of new communication technologies, internet use and contemplating 'cyber-unions' as a new union form (Fiorito et al., 2000; Murray, 2017); and a political shift more accommodative to neoliberalism through financial and organizational support of political parties that enable unions to sustain and leverage their bargaining capacity (MacDonald, 2014; Uetricht & Eidlin, 2019). As such, this focus on policy, technical and political fixes has meant that since the 1990s, renewal approaches have been largely top-down, led by union leadership and staff, policymakers and legislators (Uetricht & Eidlin, 2019).

In more recent years, labour organizers, strategists and scholars have criticized such top-down approaches as impairing workers' ability to act for themselves and make the changes they need at work and in their unions (see for example: Burns, 2022;

Camfield, 2011; MacDonald, 2014; McAlevey, 2016; Sears, 2014; Uetricht & Eidlin, 2019). Looking back at the bottom-up, member-led approaches to working-class power and practice in the 1930s and 1940s, this renewal literature calls instead for re-centering those methods or strategies – adapted to today's conditions – to rebuild power and a fighting working-class movement. This includes restoring union democracy as a "critical step in the larger process of union renewal" (Murray, 2017, p. 22); moving away from the servicing model to an organizing model<sup>1</sup> that empowers members to solve their own problems rather than relying on unions as a service or insurance policy concerned only with grievances and contracts (Price, 2017); a restoration of militancy at the rank-and-file level capable of developing a strong radical leftist current (Uetricht & Eidlin, 2019); building new workers' organizations such as tenant groups, or associations that focus on migrant rights or anti-racism (Camfield, 2011); and the return of "sharp class conflict" by first understanding that all who sell their labour in exchange for wages are part of the working class and through that recognition, the need to build a new type of labour movement that "fight[s] for an economy where workers control the wealth we create" (Burns, 2022, pp. 52, 8).

This thesis is informed by the insightful and compelling work of those calling for a return to member-led approaches that re-empower workers to remake their own conditions. However, through an engagement with affect theory, this study argues that the literature's emphasis on ideas, strategy and structure leaves the affective relations *that mediate them* largely out of focus. In other words, often left at the margins are the atmospheres, intensities and feelings at the heart of re-generating a working-class structure of feeling as described above. For example, greater union democracy could mean more membership control over their unions, but what moves members to participate in and strengthen that democratic process? Workers might face down a hostile employer to successfully unionize, but how are those feelings of winning and solidarity translated into the experience of membership and a long-term role in the labour

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The organizing model was first articulated in the 1980s by the American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial Organizations (AFL-CIO) as a way to address falling union density by mobilizing the existing membership around workplace issues and the life of the union which, they assumed, would lead to growth (Hurd, 2004; MacDonald, 2014). When union density only continued to fall, the AFL-CIO shifted its emphasis towards external organizing as a top priority. While definitions and uses of the term have varied over time, this study takes the definition of the organizing model as when "members know they are the union, they do a lot for themselves and union staff provide a supporting role and where they provide leadership, it is as part of an active and conscious mandate given to them by the members" (*Trade Union Futures*, 2016).

movement? A class-struggle approach might convincingly argue that workers deserve a more equitable share of society's wealth, but what creates attachments to alterative social relations in response, and the political will to struggle for them?

Affect theory emerged in cultural studies in the early 2000s to answer questions like these – how extra-discursive relational forces or feelings can connect the body with the world; how the mobilizing forces of affect work to move people to action, political or otherwise; and how people become attached to ideas of the future and what is possible. Concerned that critical theory had reached an impasse in terms of understanding or addressing the crises of the present, affect theorists suggested new models were needed to generate the "affective foundation of hope that is necessary for political action" (Cvetkovich, 2012, p. 2) by exploring how "larger social systems are experienced at the level of sensation or embodied feeling" (Cvetkovich, n.d.).

Despite affect's theorization as an organizing force (Just, 2019), only a handful of recent studies have considered affect theory in terms of the labour movement and class struggle. As feminist cultural theorist Rosemary Hennessy writes:

The hope for transforming capitalism's class relations lies in organized collective action, and yet we know relatively little about the affective dimensions of how collective consciousness is motivated and inspired or the role of affective relations in its unravelling (2009, p. 310).

This study sets out to understand how greater attentiveness to working-class affects through an engagement with affect theory might support the revitalization of the labour movement. To investigate, this thesis first draws from labour history focused on Canada and other Western democracies followed by a literature review of affect theory to develop a framework for thinking about the affective dimensions of collective action within unions. Using that framework, the study then investigates the affective life of two Western Canadian unions through member surveys and interviews with union leadership.

### **1.2.** Outline of the thesis

Chapter 1 will continue with a brief review of the rise of labour militancy in Canada leading up to and including the 1930s-1940s period to describe what was driving the resistance that strategists and scholars draw from today. As unions and the economy underwent significant changes after 1946, it then describes the postwar settlement and its effects on the working class as employers and the state began to reassert their dominance. This section is followed by discussion of how the 'cultural turn' changed the established left's view of the working class as a revolutionary force, coinciding with the decline of class conflict in the 1970s and in the lead up to the start of trade union decline. With this backdrop established, the chapter concludes with the research problem and the significance of this study.

Chapter 2 offers a literature review of affect theory. It traces its roots in the philosophy of Spinoza, describes the 'affective turn' of the 1990s, and considers the affirmation of affect theory in the early 2000s. The chapter then reviews the practical application of affect theory to social movements before examining the limited literature concerned with affect and the labour movement to explore 'affective organizing.'

Chapter 3 lays out the framework for analysis for this study. It begins by first discussing the parameters of measuring affects and then develops *five affective dimensions of collective action* for analysis. It then describes the methods, why they were used, the data collection procedure and how the data were analyzed. The chapter concludes with the ethical considerations applied in this work followed by the limitations of the study.

Chapter 4 presents the results of union member surveys as well as interviews with individuals in staff leadership positions at two Western Canadian unions – the BC General Employees' Union (BCGEU) and the Alberta Union of Provincial Employees (AUPE). The surveys examined the extent to which members are coming into contact with one another, sharing, learning, affecting and being affected in a way that builds cultures of solidarity. The interviews further explored the affective dimensions of collective action defined in Chapter 3 by focusing mainly on the experiences of workers organizing into their unions and other opportunities for members to work together.

Chapter 5 concludes the thesis with a discussion of the findings to answer the research questions. The chapter makes an argument for why paying closer attention to the affective life of unions is important. It does so in terms of everyday communicative practice with a concern for existing union members, and more broadly around what a

consideration of affect theory might afford the labour movement as it continues its revitalization efforts.

## **1.3.** Working-class resistance in Canada, two waves

As the social relations of production have changed and transformed under capitalism in Canada over the last 150 years, workers have adapted and transformed in response to the burdens and opportunities of those conditions. In the 1960s and 1970s, Italian workerists described this process as class decomposition and recomposition – the ongoing cycle in which employers work to assert their domination while workers develop capacities to resist (MacDonald, 2014; Sears, 2014).

The worker uprisings that occurred in the years after the two World Wars represent two important moments of resistance and recomposition which saw the working-class movement in Canada first get its footing, and then produce a highpoint of mass insurgency that many labour organizers, strategists and scholars now look back on as they think about how to rebuild a transformative working-class movement today.

#### **1.3.1. Wartime resistance**

Labour's relative passivity in the early years of World War I (WWI) began to change in 1916 as the brutal realities of trench warfare became more apparent, and significant working-class opposition to conscription began to grow (Kealey, 1992). Industrialists were also increasingly seen as profiteering off the war contributing to the criticism. At the same time, labour shortages from servicing the war effort "and a more muscular movement" put unions in a stronger position at the bargaining table to win concessions (Belshaw, 2016, para. 12). Then in 1917, the Bolshevik Revolution galvanized workers' movements across Europe and around the world with "a powerful sense of political possibilities" (Sears, 2014) towards establishing a new political, economic and social order that could transcend capitalist oppression and exploitation. Indeed, the years 1917-1920 represented the "first significant nationwide working-class challenge to bourgeois rule" in Canada (Kealey, 1992, p. 281).

Reaching a powerful peak in 1919 a wave of unrest swept across Canada that saw 400 strikes in that year alone, including the Winnipeg General Strike of 1919

(Belshaw, 2016). However, as the process of class composition and recomposition goes, employers were able to reassert their power by the mid-1920s, subduing the labour movement in Canada once again through management techniques that undercut worker autonomy on the shop floor<sup>2</sup> (Antaya, 2015).

Throughout the 1930s and 1940s, workers in Canada as well as in the U.S.. France and Britain organized on a mass scale once again following the impacts of the Great Depression and the Second World War (WWII). Labour shortages, coupled with discontent over speed ups, "frozen wages, lack of job security and repressive anti-union rules" strengthened the power of workers as they pushed further for better pay and conditions (Sears, 2014, p. 38). One third of workers across Canada took part in strikes in the early to mid-1940s (Thompson, 2021) to demand union recognition, raise wages and improve conditions despite "severe restrictions on the right to strike in war-related industries" (Hébert, 2015, para. 13). The 1945 strike against Ford in Windsor, Ontario for basic union rights marked "a high point of mass insurgency in twentieth century Canada" (Sears, 2014, p. 29). This action saw 11,000 workers walk off the job supported by the activism of families, church groups, businesses, students and other members of the surrounding community, with thousands more engaging in or planning sympathy strikes across the country (Panneton, 2006). After 99 days on the picket line, Ford workers reached a deal, winning their struggle for union security and setting an example that "gave the Canadian labour movement the confidence to fight for post-war gains" (CLC, n.d.).

While difficult and very often violent, driving both waves of insurgency was a working-class analysis that enabled workers to map the system of oppression, debate strategies and build repertoires of collective action (Sears, 2014). In the early 1900s, the largely immigrant composition of the Canadian working class<sup>3</sup> (Kealey, 1992) meant that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The advent of Frederick Winslow Taylor's modern theories of scientific management in the early 20th century provided employers a way to break worker control. Known as Taylorism, the "standardization of work processes" reshaped the workplace in order to maximize efficiency in manufacturing outputs. These simplified processes no longer required the creativity or skill of workers and removed their ability to set the pace of work. "Unionism was the main way that workers initially resisted scientific management." (Antaya, 2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Indigenous people have been active as wage labourers since before Canadian confederation, however their role in unions and early strike actions has been marginalized. While "essential to the emergence of this country's capitalist industrialization" through their labour in the late 19th century, Indigenous workers were "squeezed out of the paid labour force by employers, non-

these workers "drew on conceptions of fairness and collective action rooted in their own traditions" (Sears, 2014, p. 43). Their analysis was further informed by the events of 1917 which provided the "material and intellectual context" of the unrest of 1919 (Belshaw, 2016, para. 12).

Although conditions were different by WWII, a new generation of workers developed capacities for collective action through a wide range of radical political organizations that maintained critical links to earlier periods of militancy that workers could draw on in debate and discussion. The political capacities these organizations provided taught workers how to "think through problems and find ways of effectively acting on the world" (Sears, 2014, p. 51). Within unions a strong commitment to self-activity and democratic control over the shop floor was also evident in both periods. Shop stewards played a central role having "developed extensive capacities for workplace direct action" (Sears, 2014, p. 35) "grounded in radical organizing dating back to the early 1900s" (Camfield, 2011, p. 37). They initiated action to conduct slow-downs, sit-down strikes and walk-outs; they policed the company, protected workers and negotiated with management. In the case of the Windsor Ford strike, stewards formed a policy committee and they made their own strategic decisions despite the fact that the union leadership wanted to end the strike earlier (Sears, 2014).

Throughout this radical period in Canada, left ideas (be they anti-capitalist, socialist or communist) were commonplace on the shop floor and throughout communities and working class parties and trade unions "had become mass phenomena by the 1930s" (Chibber, 2022a, p. 164). In 1933 the Cooperative Commonwealth Federation (CCF) in Canada "emerged as a legitimate left-wing political force" and, becoming even more popular in the 1940s, won more seats in federal elections forcing government to "adopt and implement more left-leaning social policies which greatly benefitted all Canadian workers" (Antaya, 2015, pp. 15, 16). The left had a "genuine social weight" with significant "influence on the political, economic and cultural agenda" (Sears, 2014, pp. 50, 3) that is hard to imagine today.

Indigenous settlers and, in some cases, unions" (CCPA). As a result, Canadian labour literature can often lack Indigenous perspectives in descriptions of the working class.

#### **1.3.2. Postwar settlement & decline**

In response to the mass insurgency of the 1930s and 1940s again, employers and the state pushed back to reassert their domination by reaching a compromise for labour peace. This was achieved through what is commonly referred to as the postwar settlement in which new labour laws along with social and economic rights improved conditions for "large layers of the working class" (Sears, 2014, p. 54). Under these new laws, unions had the right to bargain with employers; grievance and arbitration procedures were set up to resolve disputes; and the dues check off which, while eliminating face-to-face dues collection, financially stabilized unions. In exchange, unions were required to be certified by a labour board in order to bargain, and there were restrictions on strikes during the life of a collective agreement, how bargaining units were defined and the recognition of employer rights and purview (Camfield, 2011).

The new regime essentially replaced 'direct action unionism' where issues were settled directly on the shop floor, with 'contract unionism' which meant issues would now be dealt with *outside the workplace* by union staff assisting with the enforcement of collective agreement rights through grievance and arbitration procedures. Some union leaders were also enlisted in the policing of union members by helping to enforce new rules such as 'obey now, grieve later' or to ensure members didn't take illegal strike action. The new regime marked a major change in unionism and the labour movement in which class struggles were funneled into the more easily managed 'certified unions' with their rules and restrictions (Camfield, 2011).

At the same time, the class-based analysis that fuelled earlier militancy was also being dismantled. In the first few years of the Cold War, many communist-led locals and unionists (still inspired by earlier workers movements) who were critical of capitalism and supported extra-parliamentary action by labour were largely forced from union office by the end of the 1950s (Camfield, 2011). The state, employers, "social democrats and much of the trade union leadership" (Sears, 2014, p. 54) engaged in the anti-communist witch-hunt that resulted in the purge of "the most class-conscious workers and worker leaders from the unions," (IS, 1975, p. 10).

The new regime also coincided with the postwar boom, a period of worldwide economic expansion beginning in the late 1940s. This meant employers were able to

provide workers higher wages because it didn't cut into their profits, but they wanted workers to give up what little control they still had over working conditions in return. As a result, "shop floor organization all but disappeared" (IS, 1975, p. 10). For many, this was an acceptable trade-off because the high wages and benefits unions bargained in this period left workers feeling as though they had now won what they had been fighting for. Not only did most workers now have higher wages, "union security, living standards and social programs," (Sears, 2014, p. 41) they also had new form of belonging and social citizenship in Canada where those that previously identified as working class came to understand themselves as members of the growing 'middle-class' instead (Ponce de Leon, 2015). As the years went on, this membership afforded them "wider societal participation through consumption, housing, education, and leisure" (Muehlebach, 2011).

However, postwar gains were not extended to everyone. The twentieth century view of the working class was premised on "whiteness, masculinity, colonialism and heterosexism" (Sears, 2014, p. 14). As such, women, people of colour, Indigenous, gay and lesbian workers were largely "excluded from these benefits or had access only to a lower tier" – a disorienting outcome for those left behind as "their former comrades withdrew from the fields of battle and proclaimed victory," making postwar gains a "complex combination of victory and repression" (Sears, 2014, pp. 54, 49).

When recession in the late 1970s brought an end to postwar prosperity, and capitalism began restructuring around the neoliberal paradigm, unions and left politics came under attack in Canada and other liberal democracies. The decomposition of the working class was once again afoot, with "capital accumulation [shifting] rapidly to new spaces and methods of production, shaking loose class compromises" made in the postwar period (MacDonald, 2014). This initiated a decline in both working-class culture and power from which the movement has not recovered (Camfield, 2011; Sears, 2014).

## 1.4. The cultural turn

Even before the neoliberal paradigm began to emerge, changes during the postwar period<sup>4</sup> had already initiated a significant turning point for the working-class

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The postwar period generally refers to the two decades following 1950, whereas Camfield puts the postwar period for the Canadian labour movement between 1945 and 1975 (2011).

movement in Canada and elsewhere. Not just in terms of labour law as contract unionism became the norm and many workers themselves stepped away from class conflict and retreated into middle-classness, but these developments also led to a sea change in cultural theory concerning the working class itself.

German philosopher and economist Karl Marx's ideas around the "sources of stability and conflict in modern society" (Chibber, 2022a, p. 1) had become the official doctrine of working-class movements by the end of the nineteenth century and remained influential for much of the twentieth (Kellner, 2021). At many points over these decades, it seemed that Marx's analysis had predicted capitalism's fate, and its overthrow by the working class was entirely possible, if not imminent (Chibber, 2022a). As working-class conflict in western countries began to decline by the end of the 1970s however, the failure of the West to become socialist in the twentieth century had now raised doubts about a Marxist class analysis, and whether it was equipped to explain the apparent consent of the working class to the capitalist system (Chibber, 2022a; Femia, 1982). After all, as Sri Lankan novelist, activist and organic intellectual A. Sivanandan sharply pointed out in the late 1980s, it appeared capital was the one undergoing the revolution, emancipating itself from labour while the left struggled to make sense the new relations of production falling into place (1989).

As cultural theorists sought to explain why events seemed to be moving in the opposite direction than what Marx's theory predicted, they zeroed in on the model of the base/superstructure (Steinmetz-Jenkins, 2022). This central metaphor in Marx's work posits culture and ideology as determined by the forces and relations of production, or the economic base (Peck, 2001). As Marx laid out in the Preface to *A Contribution to the Critique of Political Economy* (1859):

The totality of [the] relations of production constitutes the economic structure of society, the real foundation, on which arises a legal and political superstructure and to which correspond definite forms of social consciousness. The mode of production of material life conditions the general process of social, political and intellectual life. It is not the consciousness of men that determines their existence, but their social existence that determines their consciousness (1977).

While Marx didn't identify what was in the superstructure beyond what is "legal and political" he suggested that the superstructure included a society's type of government, values and culture which reflected the interests of the ruling class, not the interests of the workers (Ervin, 2020). So as classical Marxist scholars understood it, the superstructure was the domain of ideas and meanings that simply reflected the base, without "a social effectivity of their own" (Hall, 1980, p. 60).

Cultural theorists now criticized this materialist model for overemphasizing the base and underemphasizing the superstructure and thus culture's role as a determining force of capitalism's stabilization (Buechler, 1995; Chibber, 2022a). In the 1980s influential British Jamaican cultural theorist Stuart Hall challenged the "inadequacy of the base/superstructure model" as a theory of determination (2016, p. 24) when he asked, "what happened to the working class under conditions of economic affluence" (Chibber, 2022a, p. 81). For Hall at that time, the explanation for the system's stabilization was not in the economic structure but the superstructure and in his estimation, this meant that classical Marxism had overlooked the way in which cultural hegemony affected workers' consciousnesses (Jacobin, 2022). This was the crux of what became known as the *cultural turn* – a seismic shift in social analysis seeking to answer why class conflict was no longer occurring in the West (Chibber, 2022a).

Of the many ramifications of this turn, two are significant for this research: the shift in emphasis from the material to the discursive in terms of class struggle; and the de-centering of the working-class as a revolutionary force.

#### 1.4.1. From the material to the discursive

When cultural theorists "abandoned the structural theory of class for a theory that presented it as a cultural construction" by the 1980s, they began looking to ideas, meaning and culture as the source of working-class consent (Chibber, 2017, p. 1). In this way, culture was understood as a "constitutive dimension of all social practices and thus an active force in politics and social change" (Hall, 2007, p. 46). Hall pointed to two key episodes behind this shift: the cultural revolutions and the theoretical revolutions of the mid-twentieth century (1988). Respectively, this included student radicalism and the civil rights, women's liberation, ecological and the anti-war movements of the 1960s (Waterman, 1993) and the turn towards "semiotics, structuralism and post-structuralism – and their concern for language and representation" the 1960s and 1970s (Hall, 1988, p. 25). The cultural revolutions turned towards the more individualized politics of the person, while the theoretical revolutions elevated rhetoric and discourse as ultimately

world-making through "words, ideas, images" (Sivanandan, 1989, p. 3). For example, feminism "turned to analyzing the discursive production of gender difference," and as French philosopher Jacques Derrida wrote at the time, "nothing is extratextual" (Bonnell & Hunt, 1999, pp. 37, 36).

The 'left intelligentsia' now saw their task as engaging the new information society at the economic (production) and the political (ideological) levels by producing ideas, information and ideology that would influence how people think, behave, vote, etc., as the new basis from which to "overwhelm, if not overthrow, the bourgeoisie itself" (Sivanandan, 1989, p. 16). As Sivanandan put it, these developments in cultural studies represented "a shift in focus from economic determinism to cultural determinism, from changing the world to changing the word, from class in and for itself to the individual in and for himself or herself" (1989, p. 23).

These new cultural dynamics on the left began to influence a declining labour movement in the 1980s, and a shift from "traditional labour repertoires" of collective action to social movement unionism in North America occurred with a focus on "discursive capacity and narrative framings" (Murray, 2017, p. 18). The intention was to innovate and "activate multiple pressure points in order to achieve strategic leverage" in an increasingly hostile political environment for unions (Murray, 2017, p. 16). While this enabled unions to broaden their repertoires, the limitations of symbolic acts in the form of lobbying, rallies, and demonstrations that "focus on legal and symbolic routes geared toward media recognition and public condemnation of the government of the day" largely fail to organize "a serious, material challenge to the government and their corporate bosses" (Shantz, 2009, p. 127). Scholar and activist Alan Sears cites as an example the 'Ontario's Days of Action' that took place in the 1990s against the Harris provincial government's austerity agenda in which hundreds of thousands walked off their jobs to march and picket their workplaces, shutting down cities for days at a time (2014). It was a historic demonstration of force, but "was limited to symbolic strikes...that did not build counter-power" (Sears, 2014, p. 96). As Sears has written, the mass strike had become a "recurring motif in the neoliberal era" in which impressive mobilizations and participation remained largely symbolic because they failed to "build ongoing infrastructure to push farther" (2014).

In this light, one could argue in Italian Marxist scholar Antonio Gramsci's terms that labour repertoires had moved from 'war of manoeuvre' type actions like slowdowns, occupations and strikes to a 'war of position' entailing a "cultural struggle of much longer duration and complexity" (Egan, 2014, p. 521). Sociologist Roberto Franzosi writes this has been a:

...forced necessity of labor strategies at different points in time, at different points along the swings [of capitalism's development] – Gramsci's war of movement, when positions are conquered by miles versus war of position, when positions are mostly lost or won by inches, when lucky (2005, p. 436).

However, the problem is that a 'war of position' is "a necessary but not sufficient field of class struggle" (Gerke, 2019, p. 29). This means that:

...any version of a Gramscian strategy requires that a dual war be waged; against a coercive machinery that springs into action when it has to, and against the reified atmosphere of the persistent cultural life of capitalist society (Gerke, 2019, p. 30, emphasis original).

Despite the need to respond to the new ways of organizing work, life and politics that the neoliberal period of capitalist development produced, the shift towards more symbolic repertoires of collective action and away from a dual strategy as described above has restricted union power.

#### **1.4.2. De-centering the working class**

The cultural turn's rethinking of class conflict also led theorists to abandon the Marxist presumption that "the most significant social actors [were] defined by class relationships rooted in the process of production" (Buechler, 1995, p. 442). Instead, they looked to new social constituencies through "other logics of action based in politics, ideology, and culture" and "other sources of identity such as ethnicity, gender and sexuality" (Buechler, 1995, p. 453). With no "clear-cut class identity," these new constituencies were nonetheless seen as the "carriers of the new socialism" (Sivanandan, 1989, pp. 9, 3).

As such, the labour movement was written off by the western left in Britain, the U.S. and Canada (Chibber, 2022b) as the agent of change in contemporary society because it "had ceased (if it ever was) to be a class for itself and was therefore incapable of revolution" (Sivanandan, 1989, p. 3). Indeed, as early as 1968, the "student

left were writing off the western working class as bought off, complacent and living off the fruits of imperialism" just as the largest wave of labour uprisings and unauthorized wildcat strikes since the 1940s was occurring in Europe, the U.S. and Canada (Chibber, 2022b). At the root of this abandonment was a shift from understanding workers as materially constrained by the risks of organizing, to being duped by culture – the ideology of the media, the employer, the church, etc. As sociologist Vivek Chibber explains:

The intellectual, academic and student level, [thought] workers [were] fooled into accepting their place, because of ideology, because of culture. [Workers] don't really understand their interests – the term is false consciousness – and so they need to have it explained to them, that they're really being screwed over; in short, the left intelligencia was now telling workers that they understand their situation better than they do (2022b).

We can learn from the cultural turn that individuals don't operate from the onedimension of class and that they are "rather in dialectically interrelated combinations of positions and identities" (Buechler, 1995, p. 456). However, the intellectual left's retreat into "university campuses and nonprofit organizations [and away from] the neighborhoods and productive establishments where labor confronts capital" (Chibber, 2022a, p. 176) did much to decenter worker agency and knowledge from working-class struggle.

## 1.5. Research problem & questions

Those working to reclaim something of the working-class power and democratic practice of the 1930s and 1940s must contend with the impacts of the cultural turn as outlined above. This means re-establishing emphasis on traditional labour repertoires that confront state power rather than a reliance on discursive strategies alone, and recentering worker knowledge and agency.

Affect theory is likewise concerned with cultural theory's privileging of discourse, and the neglect of bodily knowledge. As will be outlined in the literature review, affect theorists have taken issue with discourse as the primary mode of representation because, as they suggest, it fails to account for the full resonance of the social world as it's actively lived and felt. This fixation on discourse also, they point out, writes the "body out of theory" (Hemmings, 2005, p. 550) and with it, 'bodily knowledges,' which are so critical to apprehending how structures of power impose on bodies, and in turn, make possible capacities for collective action. As such, the work of this thesis sees a clear connection between reasserting the power of the working class as a social force, and affect theory's concern with how bodies move, act, align and dis-align in the process of social change. Not just in terms of being complimentary approaches, but in understanding that the strength of working-class movements past had strong affective dimensions (to be expanded on in Chapter 3) which may be better understood through affect theory while also offering insights into how we might recreate similar conditions in today's labour movement.

With only a handful of recent studies having directly addressed the affective aspects of collectivity and revitalization in the context of the labour movement, this thesis makes a contribution by developing a framework for thinking about the affective dimensions of collective action in the context of unions. That said, "thirty years of resurgent capitalist class power" and the subsequent shift away from collectivism and towards "intense attachments to unique individuality" (Dean, 2016, p. 21) has made a cultural response that can rebuild working class power extremely challenging. Therefore, this work hypothesizes that any affective dimension will be limited at the rank-and-file level of union membership, and more discernable when workers have the opportunity to work together, such as through organizing. With this in mind, this thesis seeks to answer the following research questions:

- 1. How could affect theory be put to work in terms of labour's revitalization efforts?
- 2. How is attention to the affective life of unionism important to the day-to-day communicative practice of unions?

## **1.6.** Significance of the study

Research into the sociology of emotion dates back to the mid-1970s (Flam & King, 2005). Since the early 2000s, the sociology of emotion in relation to social movements has been increasingly explored (Hardy & Cruz, 2018) in terms of identifying the definite 'causal force' of emotions in protests, the daily operations of social movements and collective action as well as movement affiliation and disaffiliation to name a few (Goodwin et al., 2000). And, as any practitioner of strategic communication understands, eliciting emotions is key to persuasion – especially in today's milieu of

social divisiveness and the rise of the affective politics of the post-truth era (Boler & Davis, 2018). Yet, "rarely have these sociologies of intimacy, emotion, and affect appeared in analyses of labor organizing and collective action" (Hardy & Cruz, 2018, p. 249).

The significance of this research is firstly to contribute to the application of affect theory to the labour movement and the theoretical insights it may offer for revitalization efforts. Secondly, as a study of how affect and emotion cultivate solidarity, the intention is to respond to the current moment in which workers are struggling more than ever with the cost-of-living crisis, the ongoing housing crisis, and growing job precarity continuing unabated – fueling a general feeling or *desire* among workers to organize into unions. As well, the pandemic laid bare the glaring injustice and extreme inequality of the capitalist system as "employees were being asked to risk their lives by coming into work without adequate personal protective equipment, paid sick leave, or hazard pay" (Skolnik, 2022) in its first months. And as workers toiled on the frontlines to keep goods and services flowing while struggling to pay for food and rent, the world's billionaires saw their fortunes increase by 54 per cent in the first year of pandemic (Picchi, 2021). These experiences, as Canadian labour scholar Stephanie Ross wrote, made workers "really rethink how much they're willing to sacrifice for jobs and their employers" (Innes-Leroux, 2023). While millions left the workforce (Fuller & Kerr, 2022), others started organizing, especially in the U.S., where workers at Amazon, Starbucks<sup>5</sup> and other chains launched a wave of union organizing, militancy and working-class mobilization starting in 2021 (Molla, 2022; Skolnik, 2022). And in 2023, labour unrest across Canada saw an uptick in strike activity and wage gains not seen for decades (Saba, 2023). Emotions are running high among workers, and for good reason.

One of the labour leaders interviewed for this study said: even though I've been working in unions for the vast majority of my life, and I see all the problems with them, I still think they're [workers'] best chance. It seems that those around the world fighting to join or create new unions to win economic justice would agree. But then the question becomes, how will the vitality of the present moment be carried into union membership –

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The current Starbucks unionization movement began in Buffalo, New York when a store voted to unionize in late 2021 (Molla, 2021).

into institutions still struggling with their own vitality after decades of stagnation or decline?

Whether or not unions will meet what seems to be a new opportunity to revitalize may be a matter of mobilizing the passions and generating affects "around which a progressive collective will can crystallize" (Mouffe, 2022, p. 32). Only then might they rewrite "not just the labor contract but the social contract more broadly" (Chibber, 2022a, p. 165).

# Chapter 2. Literature review

Labour organizing, taking job action and doing the work of labour activism is driven by emotion – whether it's fear holding back an organizing drive, the joy of winning a union, or heated late night negotiations around the bargaining table. It's also the affective experience of solidarity with co-workers that turns people out for one more day on the picket line. Affect theory is concerned with how emotions, feelings and affects – or extra-discursive forces – move people into and through these kinds of experiences. Yet after over three decades of development during which time affect theory has been applied across a wide range of approaches to understanding human behaviour, social interactions and cultural practices, only a handful of recent studies have considered affect theory in terms of the labour movement. With the aim of investigating how greater attention to affects might support the revitalization of the working-class movement, this chapter and literature review will study the academic research concerning the emergence of affect theory in cultural studies.

The chapter first defines affect and then summarizes affect theory's theoretical foundation by briefly reviewing the work of seventeenth-century philosopher Baruch de Spinoza, French philosopher Gilles Deleuze and French psychoanalyst Felix Guattari, as well as American psychologist Silvan Tomkins. Their work not only informed the initial turn to affect in the mid-1990s but it's also significant to understanding the evolution of affect theory, and how these early ideas and conceptualizations continue to resonate today. This is followed by a summary of the literature from the early 2000s that emerged *after* the turn to affect which advances earlier work, but also greatly expands affect theory's application to cultural studies. Many of these contributions focus on how capitalism feels, or the ways affective relations can move people in and out of political alignment or collective action. These explorations and theoretical frameworks are highly applicable and generative to thinking about the collective action and activism of labour unions.

The literature review then moves to the practical application of affect theory to social movements. It first explores the affective relations of political struggle for the insights they provide to this project. It then turns to the limited literature concerned with the labour movement to explore 'affective organizing.' The chapter then concludes that

while this literature review identifies a significant gap in the scholarship when it comes to affect theory and the labour movement, it nonetheless finds much to build on in making this connection. After all, cultural studies, which has always represented an important discipline for thinking about working-class struggles, constitutes the intellectual background for many affect theorists. For example, feminist and queer studies scholar Ann Cvetkovich talks about attention to affective politics as a way of confronting disappointment when it comes to the failure of political revolution and labour politics. The late literary scholar and cultural theorist Lauren Berlant talks about engaging the "affective aspects of class antagonism, labor practices, and a communally generated class feeling" already identified through affective descriptions of the present within the Marxist tradition (2011, p. 64). In these ways, working-class struggle is perceptible within much of the affect theory literature – the task for this study is to sharpen the focus.

## 2.1. Theorizing affect

#### 2.1.1. What is affect?

Affect and emotion have been widely investigated across various disciplines from ancient Greek philosopher Aristotle's study of classical rhetoric and emotions as part of rational decision-making (Zhang & Clark, 2018) to the fields of psychoanalysis and psychology as related to drives (Hemmings, 2015), in feminism and critical race theory, as well as in science and technology studies (Frykman & Frykman, 2016; Gregg & Seigworth, 2010). In this way philosophers and theorists have been talking about affect in myriad ways, often without using the word, long before *affect theory* was articulated in the mid-2000s (Grossberg, 2010). With this diverse and often contradictory genealogy, applications of affect are almost as numerous as those that study it (Zhang & Clark, 2018). In a chapter in *Affect, Emotion, and Rhetorical Persuasion*, communication scholar Kevin Marinelli gathers these strands into three main paradigms: "classical rhetoric (affect as pathos); cultural studies (affect as extra-discursive energy); and neuroscience (affect as pre-cognitive emotion)" (2019, p. 17). These paradigms, while not strictly distinct, concern the role of emotion in public life, discursive excess that exceeds conscious interpretation and the biological production of emotion respectively.

This research is concerned with the cultural studies paradigm which has made "emotion, feeling, and affect (and their differences) the object of scholarly inquiry,"

(Cvetkovich, 2012, p. 3). While it is difficult to find a shared definition of affect among cultural theorists – and indeed communication scholars Melissa Gregg and Gregory Seigworth write that "there is no single, generalizable theory of affect" (2010, p. 3) – affect can be described as "an approach to history, politics, culture, and all other aspects of embodied life that emphasizes the role of non-linguistic and non- or paracognitive forces," (Schaefer, 2019, p. 1). In this sense, our world is not just shaped by narratives and arguments, but also by "nonlinguistic effects—by mood, by atmosphere, by feelings" (Berlant quoted in Hsu, 2019). And in echoing the work of Welsh cultural critic Raymond Williams, affect is described as an area of culture "at the very edge of semantic availability" (Hennessy, 2013a, p. 44).

Affect can also be understood as synonymous with force or "*forces of encounter*" (Gregg & Seigworth, 2010, emphasis original) making affect "integral to a body's perpetual *becoming*" (Hipfl, 2018, p. 7 emphasis original). In this sense theories of affect ask: "*what bodies do* – what they want, where they go, what they think, how they decide – and especially how bodies are impelled by forces other than language and reason" (Schaefer, 2019, p. 1 emphasis original) through the ongoing "reciprocal process of affecting and being affected" in the world (Stenner, 2019, p. 50). Affects compel action and "their resonance results in the formation of something new in the universe" (Zuurbier & Lesage, 2016, p. 3).

In sum, attention to affect opens a theoretical space that's "sensitive to the dynamics, flows and processes of becoming that characterize the world" (Hipfl, 2018, p. 11) and aims to expand the "scope, depth and texture of theory to fully encompass the intricacies and contingencies of social phenomena" (Khoo, 2015, p. 43).

#### 2.1.2. Affect theory's theoretical grounding

While the turn to affect within cultural studies first occurred in the mid-1990s through the publication of two essays (detailed below), this section will first describe two distinct intellectual strands that gave rise to these works. First it summarizes Spinoza's account of affects and human motivation. It will then turn to Deleuze's advancement and then transition from Spinoza's conception of affect as a "continuity between matter and mind" (Schaefer, 2019, p. 14) towards Deleuze and Guattari's understanding of affect as an autonomous, apersonal force, (Hipfl, 2018), making up the first strand. The section

then reviews Tomkins' psychobiological study of affect as embodied within the individual, making up the second strand.

#### Spinoza

Most contemporary affect theory literature within cultural studies links directly or indirectly to Spinoza and his insights into the power of affects (Frykman & Frykman, 2016; Grossberg, 2010; Hardt, 2007; Marinelli, 2019). Spinoza believed that "the essence of humanity is located in desire" which "takes the form of action or feelings" (Marinelli, 2018, p. 21) along the polarity of joy and sadness or, affects (Schaefer, 2019).

The concept of affect (or *affectus* in Latin) makes up the central part of Spinoza's major work the *Ethics*, and is defined as the "affections of the body by which the body's power of acting is increased or diminished, aided or restrained, and at the same time, the ideas of these affectations" (Spinoza, 1677, as cited in Robinson & Kutner, 2019, p. 114). The first half of this definition concerns the body and the second part the mind (the ideas of the relations of affectations) making up the two dimensions of affect for Spinoza (Robinson & Kutner, 2019). This duality enables one to apply reason to what the body senses. In this way Spinoza's concern with affect is ultimately a concern with one's "ethical responsibility... to investigate one's affections" to understand true causes and this for Spinoza results in "human freedom" (Marinelli, 2019, p. 24) because a free person cannot be led by anxiety and fear (Frykman & Frykman, 2016, p. 40).

This ethical responsibility however, extends beyond the individual because as Spinoza recognized, individual continuity is based on social continuity in the sense that if we fail to help preserve other selves, we too will perish (Hennessy, 2013a). This makes Spinoza's philosophy wholly relational in a reciprocal process of affecting and being affected (Stenner, 2019). This relationality also signifies the political dimension of Spinoza's philosophy in his view that "humans must collaborate with one another to enhance their *potentia*, their power to act" (Ruddick, 2010, p. 24) demonstrating the centrality of affect to collective power for Spinoza. The political dimension is also reflected in one of Spinoza's most-cited quotations among affect theorists, that "no one has yet determined what the body can do," which signifies that field of potential, of becoming through the forces of affective encounter through which emancipatory political work is done (Spinoza, 1677, as cited in Gregg & Seigworth, 2010, p. 3).

While Spinoza's influence on affect theory through his understanding of the body's capacity 'to affect and be affected' is evident, scholars Bradley Robinson and Mel Kutner point out social theorist Megan Boler's insight that most affect theorists have not engaged directly with original or translated versions of Spinoza's work (2019). Indeed, the literature overwhelming cites Spinoza's presence and mobilization in contemporary affect theory as transmitted through Deleuze from the late 1960s onwards (Hennessy, 2013a; McMahon, 2018; Robinson & Kutner, 2019; Ruddick, 2010; Schaefer, 2019; Zhang & Clark, 2018).

#### Deleuze

Deleuze worked with Spinoza's ideas throughout his career (Schaefer, 2019) and clearly echoing Spinoza in his collaboration with Guattari they write in their 1980 book *A Thousand Plateaus: Capitalism and Schizophrenia*:

We know nothing of the body until we know what it can do, in other words, what its affects are, how they can or cannot enter into composition with other affects, with the affects of another body, either to destroy that body or be destroyed by it, either to exchange actions and passions with it or to join with it in composing a more powerful body (Deleuze and Guattai as cited in Robinson & Kutner, 2019, p. 115).

Emphasizing Spinoza's notion of affectations as either empowering or diminishing one's ability to act, Deleuze defines affect "as an *intensity* characterised by an increase or decrease in power" (Hemmings, 2005, p. 148, emphasis original). Yet while Spinoza provides an initial framework through his ontological concept of affect, Deleuze and Guattari make a move away from Spinoza's view of affects as inseparably of the mind and body (Slaby, 2019) and toward a conception of affect as a force, intensity, or pure potential (Cvetkovich, 2012). They write that "affects act in the nervous system not of persons but of worlds" (Deleuze and Guattari, 1994, as cited in Berlant, 2011, p. 14).

Through this move they want to reject "structuralist models of doing history" which they feel "inoculates the world against what [they] identify as *becomings*, "or the emergence of radical novelty, new lines of flight away from existing series" (Schaefer, 2019, p. 13, emphasis original). They see affect as autonomous from structure, moving in an "entire, vital, and modulating field of myriad *becomings* across human and nonhuman" (Gregg & Seigworth, 2010, p. 6, emphasis original). For example, through

their concept of 'the virtual and the actual,' Deleuze and Guattari describe becoming in how "reality is constantly making itself, actualizing itself, producing particular actual realities out of and alongside the virtual" (Hipfl, 2018, p. 7). The virtual is pure capacity and potential, while the actual is the reality that is produced in concrete existence.

For some theorists, this conception of affect that moves beyond materiality and the conditions of embodied life leaves us with "a politics of radio static" devoid of organization and without a theory of power (Schaefer, 2019, p. 32). Or as Marinelli describes, "while Deleuzian philosophy marks a rejuvenated interest in human sensation on one hand, it further destabilizes human agency on the other" (2019, p. 23). However, as cultural theorist Lawrence Grossberg argues, Deleuze and Guattari's philosophy isn't meant to be used in concrete work or for descriptions of empirical reality but rather, as generative for thinking about alternatives in the virtual (2010). In other words, their philosophy highlights affect as a fundamental force that shapes our reality, how the "present articulation [is] only one actuality among many virtual realities" and points to a "contingency about the world that opens up possibilities" (Grossberg, 2010, p. 318).

#### Tomkins

Writing at the same time as Deleuze in the 1960s, Tomkins was studying affect from an entirely different perspective. In his four-volume work *Affect Imagery Consciousness*, in which the first two volumes were published in the 1960s and the latter two in the 1990s, Tomkins understands affect to be the primary mechanism behind all human motivation and, as he identified, "the bottom line for thought as well as perception and behavior (Tomkins, 1981, as cited in Schaefer, 2019, p. 36).

Tomkins developed nine 'primary affects': "interest-excitement, enjoyment-joy, surprise-startle, distress-anguish, anger-rage, and fear-terror, shame-humiliation, dissmell (reaction to bad taste/smell) and disgust" (Zuurbier & Lesage, 2016, p. 38). Hard-wired and innate, affects work through what Tomkins called 'the affect system' which, working alongside the psychological drive system, acts as an amplifier of drive signals (Gregg & Seigworth, 2010) by introducing a "much richer and more varied realm of potential values into the life of an organism," leading them to seek out different possibilities to satisfy a drive (Stenner, 2019, p. 45). These potential values derive from affective memories of previous experiences that we apply to new situations (Hipfl, 2018). Tomkins believed neurologist Sigmund Freud's theory of drives didn't go far enough and

that a blend of drives, affects and also thoughts and perceptions co-assemble to form the basis of motivation (Frank & Wilson, 2020).

Tomkins' affect system offers a "matrix for mapping the contingent connections between bodies and histories" (Schaefer, 2019, p. 39) and as Tomkins himself elaborates, "[t]he basic power of the affect system is a consequence of its freedom to combine with a variety of other components . . . " (Tomkins, 1981, as cited in Schaefer, 2019, p. 39). As feminist scholar Clare Hemmings notes, Tomkins' work suggests that "affects have a complex, self-referential life that gives depth to human existence through our relations with others and with ourselves" (2005, p. 552). For Tomkins then, "affect is the primary motivational system, for without its amplification, nothing matters, whilst with its amplification, anything *can* matter" (Mussell, 2018, p. 23, emphasis original).

#### 2.1.3. The affective turn

The 'affective turn' in cultural studies and critical theory is widely understood to have been initiated by the publication of two essays in 1995 – *The Autonomy of Affect* by philosopher and social theorist Brian Massumi, and *Shame in the Cybernetic Fold* by the late queer feminist theorist Eve Kosofsky and her collaborator, scholar Adam Frank (Cvetkovich, 2012; Frykman & Frykman, 2016; Gregg & Seigworth, 2010; Zhang & Clark, 2018). Each essay advanced the two intellectual strands described above – affect as an autonomous, apersonal force and affect as embodied.

Through Deleuze, Massumi's 'philosophically inflected' theory of affect equated with intensity is concerned with the "unceasing movement that constitutes the process of becoming," (Hemmings, 2005, p. 554). He is interested in affect's "potential for novelty and disruption" (Stenner, 2019, p. 39) and as a different order of experience and approach to account for social forces. Massumi also makes a distinction between affect and emotion, claiming affect as preconscious, unmediated, distinct from and prior to emotion (Mussell, 2018) or "fundamentally exterior to cognition, language and emotion" (Schaefer, 2019, p. 4).

Through Tomkins' theory of "innate, neurologically calibrated affects," (Rooney et al., 2020, p. 46), Sedgwick and Frank's interest is in bringing "questions of embodiment and materiality" into analyses of "societal arrangements and power structures" (Slaby,

2019, p. 35). They viewed Tomkins' affect system as a productive theoretical model capable of reintroducing a sense of "subjective freedom into theory" (Mussell, 2018, p. 23) drawing from a "bricolage of available forms" (Schaefer, 2019, p. 38). In their essay they focus on the affect of shame in particular to challenge its conventional understanding as something one should strive to overcome by "turning to its dependent opposite, pride," but insist instead on what they understand as its transformative capacities (Hemmings, 2015, p. 148) in which "shame is illuminated as a productive resource" (Shaefer, 55).

While their concepts of affect are qualitatively distinct from one another, both essays are responding to what was perceived at the time as a "critical impasse in cultural theory" (Hemmings, 2015). Massumi, Sedgwick and Frank believed "outmoded forms of critical and cultural theory," prevalent since the late 1970s (Mussell, 2018, p. 21) left cultural theorists without the ability to fully account for the formation of the subject; our qualitative experience of the terrain of our social worlds; and our political processes which were limited to binary oppositions rather than attending to relational modes of power (Hemmings, 2005, 2015, p. 147).

Most specifically, these theorists sought to challenge the "assumptions of critical discursive theory" as the primary mode of representation (Stenner, 2019, p. 44). By relying only on the symbolic and leaving out the dimension of intensity, Massumi, like Deleuze, was concerned that "cultural theorists [had] divested the world of all becoming" leaving only interpellation into "existing modes of signification" (Mussell, 2018, p. 25). Critical theory's pre-existing frames, in which "everything, including nature, is constructed in discourse" (Massumi, 1995, p. 100), do not recognize and therefore close off what is emergent or potential. On a "stable map of the always already known" (Hemmings, 2005, p. 554), these frames only register change and movement by major upheaval or periodic rupture, overlooking the "slightness of ongoing qualitative change" and rendering the *everyday* as a "place where nothing ever happens" (2019, p. 51). For Massumi, the "fluidity of affect is what escapes those structures" (Mussell, 2018, p. 25). For Sedgwick, affect had the power to jolt "cultural studies out of what she saw as a hegemonic, confining and 'paranoid' critical mode based on discourse theory" (Wetherell, 2015, p. 145).

While de-privileging discourse on the one hand, they also moved to write the body more prominently back into critical theory (Hemmings, 2005, p. 548). As scholar Donovan Schaefer describes, "affect theory seeks to move beyond the postmodern fixation on the polysemy of representation [towards] a more textured account of how bodies work" (2019, p. 26) or a concern with the "body's capacity to act, to engage, to connect" (Clough et al., 2007, p. 2). Hemmings points out that the body has been addressed for decades in cultural studies within critical race, feminist and postcolonial theory (2015, p. 149). However the emphasis of the affective turn was on rejecting structures as ultimately determining, and towards the "surfaces and textures of everyday life" (Cvetkovich, 2012, p. 5) to understand how and why bodies move. Massumi calls for a "new understanding of the body in its relation to signification" (1995, p. 105) and Sedgwick and Frank understand affects as producing "bodily knowledges" (1995, p. 520) making the experiencing body the theoretical focus of their respective work (Schaefer, 2019).

Grossberg observes that cultural studies always fails and its failure is guaranteed because the world is always changing – it is always forced to remake itself in response to the new "configuration or articulation of modernity" (2010). For Massumi, Sedgwick and Frank, remaking cultural studies required attention to affect in order to be better attuned to the qualitative forces outside social signification (Hemmings, 2005, p. 550), and to "account for the fullest resonance of the social world we wish to understand," (Hemmings, 2015, p. 147).

## 2.2. Affect theory

The two essays described above and these authors' subsequent work have been highly influential in affect theory's development (Mussell, 2018) leading thereafter to a "virtual explosion" of research and theory across interdisciplinary studies of affect (Frykman & Frykman, 2016, p. 9). While Tomkins' categorical model of nine innate affects did not have much staying power within cultural affect studies (Slaby, 2019) Sedgwick's scholarship became enormously influential in feminist and queer theory, emotion psychology and phenomenology (Schaefer, 2019). Her work is described as a crucial touchstone for a "reparative rather than paranoid critical approach" to cultural studies (Cvetkovich, 2012, p. 5). And while Massumi's work is criticized by some for its polarization of affect and emotion (Hennessy, 2013b; Stenner, 2019) or the Deleuzian-

inspired theory of affect as pure potential without a material dynamic that can connect it to theories of power (Leys, 2011), his work remains highly influential in philosophical approaches to affect that focus on virtuality, intensity, novelty and the potential of becoming (Gregg & Seigworth, 2010).

This review will now examine the contributions of theorists who played a pivotal role in the rise of affect theory itself during the first decade of the 2000s and have remained instrumental in shaping its development. This includes Berlant, Cvetkovich, Hemmings and Hennessy as well as anthropologist Kathleen Stewart and feminist scholar Sara Ahmed among others. This section summarizes the continuities and differences in the evolution of affect theory since the turn; the idea of ordinary affect and its role in world-making in the everyday; the renewed emphasis on affects' materialist grounding in understanding their relationship to power; how affects help construct a sense of 'capitalism's outside' as a place to clear ground for social movements and to mount opposition; and the indeterminacy of affect as an opening to alternative futures.

#### Neoliberal crisis & new forms

The critical impasse in cultural theory that prompted the turn to affect in the mid-1990s has continued to motivate the subsequent development of affect theory. After "corporate management and state policy-makers" in the West began forming a consensus around neoliberalism in the 1990s (Sears, 2014), capitalism even more "profoundly invaded the human organism" (Hennessy, 2013b, p. 37), intensifying the impasse in which cultural studies – and the left more broadly – has lacked a vision for change or a sense of "any workable alternative" (Sears, 2014, p. 97).

For example in the aftermath of the September 11<sup>th</sup>, 2001 attacks in the U.S., Berlant initiated the 'Public Feelings' group with a loose collective of other scholars in New York, Chicago and Austin, Texas interested in the role of affect and emotion in public life (Cvetkovich, 2012). Cvetkovich, a member of the Austin group, described a "sense that customary forms of political response, including direct action and critical analysis, are no longer working either to change the world or to make us feel better" (2012, p. 1). This network, Cvetkovich writes, was looking for "a way to describe neoliberalism and globalization, or the current state of political economy, in affective terms" and to "generate the affective foundation of hope that is necessary for political action" (2012, pp. 11, 2).

Three highly influential books interpreting this moment were published in the following decade. Sara Ahmed's 2004 book *The Cultural Politics of Emotion*, critiques "a model of social structure that neglects the emotional intensities" (2004b, p. 12) and makes a case for looking at *what emotions do* as part of "larger material and discursive structures of the nation-state" (Riedner, 2006, p. 700). Kathleen Stewart's 2007 book *Ordinary Affects,* echoes Massumi in pointing out the inadequacy of totalizing terms like neoliberalism, advanced capitalism, and globalization to adequately describe the immanent force of a "weighted and reeling present" (2007, p. 1). And Lauren Berlant's 2011 book *Cruel Optimism*, which tracks the deterioration of the social democratic promise of 'the good life' in America since the 1980s through increasing inequality, economic precarity and political instability describes the resulting impasse of the present as no longer *organized* but *disorganized* by capitalism. While these books don't offer a way out of the impasse per se, they offer a "training in paying attention" (Berlant as quoted in Zarranz et al., 2017, p. 13) and a way of apprehending the production of the present by sharpening our "affective attunement" (Frykman & Frykman, 2016, p. 11).

The emphasis on the separation between affect and discourse has also become less prominent. In fact, critical discourse scholar Margaret Wetherell argues that splitting affect from everyday discourse and meaning-making "makes little social psychological sense" because there is no simple dividing line between discourse and affect (2015, p. 152). Similarly, social psychology scholar Paul Stenner sees attention to affect as an opportunity to expand on discursive analysis by including the "affective dimensions of experience, conduct, and communication" as a richer way of accounting for human behaviour, cognition and social interaction (2019, p. 51).

Finally, there is less emphasis on a sharp distinction between affect and emotion along the lines of Deleuze and Massumi's work. By the early 2000s we begin to see the words *affect, emotion, feeling* and *sentiment* used interchangeably such as with Stewart, who avoids distinguishing between affect and emotion by referring to 'forces' and 'intensities' as a vague 'something' (Frykman & Frykman, 2016). Cvetkovich uses affect and emotion in a generic way that includes "impulses, desires, and feelings that get historically constructed in a range of ways" (2012, p. 4). Ahmed is similarly uncommitted to differentiation and defines emotion as synonymous with affect (2004b). However, her intention is also political in not abandoning the concept of emotion but rather contributing to its reclamation a "facet of our history and human capacity that has been trivialized and

made invisible" (Hennessy, 2013b, p. 66). In other words, she "contests the saddling of the term 'emotion' to a masculinist caricature" concerned only with private experience (Stonecipher, 2020, p. 8).

### Ordinary affect

Attention to the affective dimensions of "ordinary life in the present moment" (Cvetkovich, 2012, p. 11) has continued to ground affect theory. Massumi had already pointed out that social constructivist models overlook what happens in the day-to-day however, this notion extends further back into cultural studies. Raymond Williams' 1977 book *Marxism and Literature* presented culture as a "way of life" and a "structure of feeling" – a concept that resonates across the work of affect theorists from the 1990s to present (Ahmed, 2004b; Berlant, 2011; Cvetkovich, 2012; Frykman & Frykman, 2016; Gregg & Seigworth, 2010; Grossberg, 2010; Hennessy, 2013a). Williams too was seeking a "theoretical sensibility for the energetic immediacy of affective encounters" (Slaby, 2019, p. 38) as a counterpoint to the "reduction of the social to fixed forms" (Williams, 1977, as cited in Slaby, 2019, p. 38).

Attention to ordinary affect also provides ways of developing systemic accounts of power. For example, in *Depression: A Public Feeling,* Cvetkovich thinks about depression as a cultural and social phenomenon rather than a medical disease to "describe the present through attention to the felt experience of everyday life" (2012, p. 12). For Berlant everyday affective life is the condition of 'crisis ordinariness,' their term for how the present is structured under the crises of contemporary capitalism, and the conditions in which "people find themselves developing skills for adjusting to newly proliferating pressure to scramble for modes of living on" (2011, p. 8).

Ahmed says Marx has shown us that "the ordinariness of the world is an effect of reification" (2004b, p. 179). She tracks the affective power of emotions to *produce* this ordinariness through their circulation, repetition and stickiness and the ways they can construct both possibilities and limitations for some subjects. For example, hate produces relationships of difference through an 'us' and 'them' in which the 'us' becomes reified as normal and ordinary while the 'them' is cast as invading or contaminating what is 'normal' and 'ordinary' (Ahmed, 2004b). Ahmed reaffirms what gets constructed as ordinary as "something that does not have to be, and as something that came to be, over time, and with work" (2004b, p. 180).

## Materiality & history

For Deleuze and Guattari, "structuralist models of doing history" confound emergence, novelty, and *becoming* (Schaefer, 2019, p. 13). Likewise, Massumi views affect as "autonomous from history and social life" (Hennessy, 2013a, p. 42). However, as scholars Kate Hardy and Katie Cruz argue, affect and emotion are not just "poststructural concerns, but can be considered within a materialist frame of analysis" (2019, p. 249). As such, Hardy, Cruz, Hemmings – and Hennessy in particular – are wary of theories of affect that "abstract it from material history" (Hennessy, 2013a, p. 37).

Hennessy's work with affect is grounded in the principles of materialism (2013a, p. xvii). She brings forward Spinoza's conception of affect as "a significant component of the process of meeting individual and collective human survival needs" (2013a, p. 47) to point out how his insight corresponds with the "basic premise of historical materialism" (2013a, p. 41). It's in this sense that Hennessy establishes the materiality of affects in how they are "corporeal intensities transposed into emotions and feelings that are in turn inflected by the social relations that shape a culture's meaning-making system" (2013a, p. 46). Affects flow through the "circuit of nature-bodies-labor through which needs are met and social life is reproduced" (Hennessy, 2013a, p. 66).

Berlant also sets out to "produce a materialist context for affect theory" show how the affective atmospheres in which we find ourselves are part of a shared historical moment experienced viscerally in the "material scenes of living on in the present" while also providing "evidence of historical processes". For example, people have remained attached to fantasies of the 'good life' in America through the "residue of common historical experience" despite the increasingly precarious nature of contemporary life that has foreclosed on this possibility for so many (Berlant, 2011, p. 64).

Ahmed finds evidence of historical processes through her key concept of affective economies which refers to the circulation of signs of emotion that, in their social movement and repetition over time, generate affective value. Returning to the example of hate, one may be hailed into a history of meaning through a racial slur as a result of "histories that have stayed open" exposing an individual to being "'impressed upon' or hurt in a way that follows from the history of insults" (Ahmed, 2004b, pp. 59, 60). Recognizing affect's material history in this way enables us "to realize that affect is produced, that it is always affected and effective in multiple and complex ways, and that

it is always structured" (Grossberg, 2010, p. 337) in how it "binds us to [or is produced in] a particular set of historical circumstances" (Hemmings, 2012, p. 150).

#### Capitalism's outside

Berlant recalled that both Deleuze and Massumi viewed "the overproduction of affect as a good fuel for private capital growth and the exhaustion of the subject, who is reduced to the dramatics of getting by," (as quoted in Zarranz et al., 2017, p. 13). In an affective reading of Marx, political theorist John McMahon describes his theory of alienation as "that of the diminishment of affect" or the external force that confronts the worker and drains them of affective capacity (2018, p. 10). Yet while capitalism has always harvested the affective capacities of workers, it can never do so completely leaving an 'outside' where affective opposition can arise (Hennessy, 2013a).

Hennessy writes about an "outside to capitalism [that] creates a *meantime* between what is and what can be, a political opening where social relations and cultural categories take on new value" (Hennessy, 2013a, p. xix, emphasis original). This potential for a meantime always remains open because workers are always negatively affected by capitalism's prioritization of profit over their well-being resulting in unmet needs. Through capacities for attachment and cooperation, alternative ways of "knowing and surviving" can be built (Hennessy, 2009, p. 311). As Hennessy's writes, "unmet needs do indeed haunt our imaginations, our ability to dream another world, and our labour to make possible its realization" (2009, p. 311). It's in this outside or meantime where people can come together in common cause to learn and strategize, identify leaders and take collective actions that make life better.

In a similar sense to Hennessy, scholar Michael Hardt made a case in his 1999 paper *Affective Labour* that because labouring also produces "social networks, forms of community, biopower" (1999, p. 96) that this holds out the potential for liberation. Inverting French philosopher Michel Foucault's concept of biopower to view power not from above but from below, Hardt suggests that exploitative labour "works directly on the affects" which can build oppositional subjectivities and biopower on the ground (1999, p. 98). Later in his work with political philosopher Antonio Negri they call on readers in *Multitude: War and Democracy in the Age of Empire* to "see affective dynamics as the birthplace of a new form of political subject, the global multitude, which can be the agent of fundamental and radical change against the capitalist world economy" (Slaby, 2019,

p. 346). In other words, they name affective dynamics as integral to the social networks and communities that form outside of what capital can capture, and where opposition can arise.

Importantly, the development of oppositional subjectivities also depends on care and mutual aid. As Ahmed argues, the possibility of gathering together to "clear spaces or ground for action" that can generate new meanings and orientations depends on how we feel about others (2004b, p. 166). However, this goes beyond comradery and involves "social interactions through which needs are met and subjects are formed" (Hennessy, 2013a, p. 58). As Hennessy writes, developing oppositional subjectivities in capitalism's outside is highly dependent on affective care and collaboration which "permeate[s] relationships and propel[s] action" (2013a, p. xviii).

### Affect's indeterminacy

While Hemmings affirms there is no denying affects as "they are what make up life," (2005, p. 548) she is also cautious in measuring the capacity of affects to be transformative rather than simply reproductive or consolidating of an existing dominant social order (2015, p. 151). For example, she argues from the perspective of critical race theory that "affect plays a role in both cementing sexed and raced relations of domination, and in providing the local investments necessary to counter those relations" (2005, p. 550).

Gregg and Seigworth and also describe affect as "bear[ing] an intense and thoroughly immanent neutrality," (2010, p. 10) that can build utopias or dystopias which means affect theory can be applied to progressive, democratic movements "just as well as it explains the appeal of conservatism, reaction, and fascism" (Schaefer, 2019, p. 1). In a similar vein, affects can join people together just as easily as they can divide. Because emotions are relational "they involve (re)actions or relations of 'towardness' or 'awayness'" in which depending on how we feel, we are moved to align with objects, places, others, or turn against them (Ahmed, 2004b, p. 8).

However, the indeterminacy of affects reveal "a contingency about the world that opens up possibilities" (Grossberg, 2010, p. 318). Grossberg uses the Deleuzian concept of 'the virtual and the actual' to think about how on the one hand, the current conjuncture under neoliberalism feels fixed and that we can't think outside its logics. Yet

on the other hand, there is the possibility of different actualizations, different "ways of being modern" among the totality of many virtual realities (Grossberg, 2010, p. 319). Grossberg writes: "the North Atlantic vision of modernity is one actualization with its dominant machines of affect and dominant regimes of affect, and dominant structures of affect, and dominant ways of belonging" (2010, p. 324). He is arguing that if we understand that other articulations are possible within a reality that is "continuously constructing itself," we might be able to do the analytic and political work of understanding how to "move into another set of articulations" (2010, pp. 323, 325). Affect theory turns our attention to the world-making forces of affect's immanent potential. As Stewart writes, the world is always "tentative, charged, overwhelming, and alive" through "affect's lines of promise and threat" in the always emerging present (2007, pp. 128, 129).

# 2.3. Affect theory in practice

Approaches to affect theory have expanded significantly since the turn to affect as described above. Yet when it comes to scholarship that considers the communicative practices of the labour movement through the lens of affect theory, Hennessy points out little is known and much is to be learned (2013a, p. xiv). This section will first turn to scholarship on the affective dimension of political struggle for the insights it provides to this study's overall objective. It will review political theorist Jodi Dean's assessment of how an affective dimension worked to motor U.S. and British communist parties of the 1930s before turning to a study of the affective dimension of a protest camp in Helsinki, Finland.

The remainder of the section will explore the available research that engages affect theory with labour unions. This includes studies of what Hardy and Cruz term 'affective organizing' which overlaps with and is highly generative for application to the communicative practices of labour unions. These works also shed light on why a gap in the research may exist, and how attention to the affective dimensions of the labour movement is long overdue.

## 2.3.1. Affect theory in political struggle

In her 2016 book *Crowds and Party,* Jodi Dean argues that the affective dimension – that which cultivates the political subjectivity required to bind people together into collectives – is missing in the party form today. This is because, she argues, society has largely transitioned from collective forms of political struggle – namely the party form – towards the politics of individualism. This is exemplified for Dean in political uprisings that took place from about 2005 to 2015. In moments like Occupy Wall Street, the "energy of the crowd opens to political subjectivity" (Dean, 2016, p. 125) but with no infrastructure in place to maintain fidelity to the crowd's demands in challenging dominant arrangements, its efforts are incomplete. The crowd without representation dissipates.

What's required in re-establishing the affective dimension then is "the affective infrastructure of the party," which in the past, "provided the material support for its symbolic location" (2016, p. 209) and from where members could see and feel the power that resulted from their collective efforts. She refers to communist parties of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, particularly in the U.S., that had this dimension through the commitment and militancy of their membership. Through the "grinding ordinariness" (Dean, 2016, p. 228) of everyday practice and the ceaseless injunction to do more that communist party members placed on themselves, the affective infrastructure ensured the work would get done through accountability to one another. Emotional needs were also met through "language, meetings, rituals, and reports [that] channeled poverty and hope into practical optimism" (Dean, 2016, p. 234). The affective infrastructure also created a distinct space in which every day experiences could take on meanings outside the confines of capitalism, opening up the possibility of another world that members could already feel – echoing the notion of 'capitalism's outside' as discussed above.

When the time came to set things in motion, to organize members into political action at a demonstration or to fight on the terrain of the "other," the affective infrastructure gave meaning to those actions retroactively in its "capacity to make the crowd felt after its dissipation" (Dean, 2016, p. 247). In describing this movement of meaning Dean says, "collective power works back on those that generate it" (2016, p. 249); the "affective space of the party *works on* its members, pushing them to act in their collective interest," (2016, p. 237,emphasis mine) generating affective attachments in the

service of struggle. For Dean, it is the affective infrastructure that can hold open space, enlarge the world and "maintain the gap of their desire" for those engaged in the longterm and difficult work of political struggle (2016, p. 249).

Scholars Lena Näre and Maija Elina Jokela's ethnographic research concerning a 'Right to Live' protest camp set up in the centre of Helsinki, Finland in the spring of 2017 further explores the concept of an "affective infrastructure" (2022, p. 2). The protesters, mostly asylum seekers from Syria, Iraq and Afghanistan, were demonstrating against Finland's tightened legislation that made gaining asylum more onerous, resulting in increased rejections and deportations. In their analysis they follow Berlant's 2016 definition of affective infrastructure as "the lifeworld of structure" defined by use and movement (Näre & Jokela, 2022, p. 4). Following Spinoza, this involves *affects* that circulate and move between bodies and, *affection* which refers to "bodies' capacity to affect and be affected through impressions made by external bodies (human and nonhuman)" (Näre & Jokela, 2022). In order to sustain political protest they argue, the "affective infrastructure must be created and maintained" through the "mobilisation, maintenance and circulation" of those affects and affections (p. 2).

The authors identified three aspects of the affective infrastructure at work in the protest camp. First is the capacity to reconfigure place-related meaning. The camp's location in a historically and nationally important part of Helsinki created a space that stood in opposition to the status-quo. Bolstered by the support of nearby cultural institutions such as the art gallery, where a giant 'Refugees Welcome' banner was hung, the protest was "able to generate refigurations of meanings and affects attached to Finnishness and Finnish nationalism as white, exclusive, and ignorant of racialized others, such as asylum seekers," (Näre & Jokela, 2022, p. 7) making the plight of asylum seekers more visible to public scrutiny. Second is the role of affective labour which is required to maintain the affective infrastructure. This can take the form of sharing supportive messages from social media, to nurturing social ties between activists to support collaboration within the protest. This is difficult work that requires enormous affective effort and resources to maintain momentum. As well, "affects circulating between subjects not only unite but also separate and can even cause the infrastructure to break down" (p. 11) highlighting the ambivalence of affects and necessitating the continuous negotiation of meanings and affects attached to the protest by the activists. Third is the use of affect to manage the political message. Camp protesters actively

worked to transform, disrupt and mediate the affects circulating in the public sphere that commonly attach negativity and strangeness to the figures of 'asylum seeker' and 'refugee.' This was done by hanging Finnish flags in the camp, writing friendly messages to passersby as well as creating a colourful environment that was at times fun and carnivalesque. In response to aggressive passersby that had been threatening the camp, especially at night, protesters also called on white female Fins to stand in solidarity with the racialized bodies of the protesters *inside* the camp, thus altering the affective atmosphere through their presence.

As the authors describe, "the entire affective infrastructure of the protest, including its materiality, atmosphere and soundscape, was aimed at transforming the image of the asylum seekers into a non-threatening one" (Näre & Jokela, 2022, p. 14). Näre and Jokela conclude that "political action is as much about the material and practical tasks of providing food, care and material resources as it is about managing the movement affectively – about being present and mediating affects circulating among human and non-human bodies and materialities" (2022, p. 14).

As both examples of political organization and action suggest, the affective dimension (and the mediation of affects) is central to driving and sustaining collective efforts. Because unions engage in similar political aims – from representing a symbolic location from which workers fight for their rights to the work of campaigns and strikes – these examples provide relevant insights despite gaps in the literature around affect and labour as described in the next section.

### 2.3.2. Affect theory & the labour movement

In 2009 Hennessy wrote that "the hope for transforming capitalism's class relations lies in organized collective action, and yet we know relatively little about the affective dimensions of how collective consciousness is motivated and inspired or the role of affective relations in its unravelling" (2009, p. 310). Later in her 2013 book *Fires on the Border: The Passionate Politics of Labor Organizing on the Mexican Frontera*, she remarked that although feelings are "the daily medium in which concepts come to matter and organizing efforts are lived," only since the early 2000s has academic theory directed attention to affect in regard to this dimension of social movement (Hennessy, 2013a, p. xii). An academic review of her book calls on union activists and education

officers to take up Hennessy's ideas, writing that "many unions and union activists remain unaware of their own affective commitments" and as such, affect must "be made visible to activists and explored consciously as an ever-present element in our ongoing contestations of capitalism" (Healy, 2015, p. 291).

In 2019 Hardy and Cruz wrote that "a significant body of research has explored the sociology of emotion in relation to social movements" yielding important insights, yet "rarely have these sociologies of intimacy, emotion, and affect appeared in analyses of labor organizing and collective action" (2019, p. 249). They suggest this striking absence may be due to the "implicit materialist orientation of scholars working in the fields of the sociology of work and employment and industrial relations" (2019, p. 246) which might exclude more abstract concepts like affect.

And in 2020, communication scholars Nicole S. Cohen and Greig de Peuter continued to point out the gap in how, "emotion, feelings, and affect are only rarely explicitly at least—centered in studies of worker organizing, even though affect, or 'the power to affect and be affected,' is immediately evident in the organizing context" (2020, p. 26). This rest of this section will turn to the work of these scholars, and their explorations of the affective dimension of labour organizing. It will end with a brief summary of when appeals to affective struggle in the labour union context can work to undermine what is termed affective solidarity.

### Affect-culture on the Mexican Frontera

Through her years of involvement and participant observation in workers' movements in the maquiladora communities of northern Mexico, Rosemary Hennessy has studied the affective dimension of labour and community organizing. Over time she noticed what she refers to as a "spectrum of affective relations featured in the process of collective organizing" (2009, p. 213). For Hennessy, affects represent "an interplay of bodily sensations, perception, consciousness and conveyance to others" (Healy, 2015, p. 289). As opposed to a theory like Massumi's in which affects are an asocial, prepersonal intensity, Hennessy views affect as grounded in the principles of historical materialism in the sense that they flow through the collective and relational processes of meeting human needs (2013a). When these needs go unmet as a result of capitalism's pursuit of profit at the expense of livelihoods, the affective resonances that arise create what Hennessy terms "affect culture" – the medium or "emotional habitus" (2013a, p. 53)

in which "attachments of affection and antagonism, belief, betrayal, identification, and frustration" (2013a, p. xii) circulate. In their circulation, they can either bind "people to a common cause and to one another" or they can antagonize and pull people apart (2013a, p. xii).

In one account of her experiences, Hennessy describes how 300 factory workers waged a 16-month strike in an attempt to improve their wages and working conditions by electing new representation. As she recalled, "for those on the front lines, affective relations were the binding agent of collective action" and collective agency (2009, p. 316). Through this experience workers transitioned from individual fear to feeling collective power, in a transition from 'I' to 'we.' While many lost their jobs and were blacklisted, they gained political education, formed new networks and relationships and new "visions of alternative ways to live and to care for one another" (2009, p. 317). Over time however, affective relations were also the corrosive that dissolved their struggle when their efforts began to falter.

Whether binding or dissolving, this mediating role of affect-culture is what Hennessy wants to draw our attention to because of its "influence on the success and the failure of many campaigns" (2013b, p. 68). As she warns, "we ignore [affective relations] at the risk of losing the ground for collective struggle and the shared horizon of our goals, for they are the glues and solvents of social movement" (2009, p. 311).

## An intimate union in Argentina

Drawing from Hennessy's work, Hardy and Cruz studied in 2008 what they argue was an affective organizing strategy carried out by the Argentinian sex workers' union AMMAR (Asociación de Mujeres Meretrices de Argentina). Sex workers are historically excluded from unionization, labour and social protections because they don't share a traditional workplace or employer, their work is informal and sometimes illegal, and sex work lacks acknowledgement as a legitimate form of labour. Further complicating organizing for AMMAR were competitiveness and police repression, both of which decreased opportunities for the women to come into collaborative contact with one another (Hardy & Cruz, 2019).

AMMAR activists began their organizing efforts by walking the areas where women were working and stopping to chat for a few minutes. Then they began offering

resources for sexual health or literature on workers' rights and eventually many women were attending events, joining the union and meeting in AMMAR offices to talk about their struggles. Beyond the material benefits of associating with AMMAR however, Hardy and Cruz describe how the affective dimension of the union brought workers into a *process* where many experienced personal transformation, developed new collective political subjectivities and as one worker put it, gained "an energy to live" (2019, p. 254). This affective dimension consisted in AMMAR facilitating spaces of care and solidarity through socialization, games and gossip; in mutual aid or through members' feelings of belonging and dignity; and crucially, in generating newly formed identities as legitimate workers deserving of rights and respect. AMMAR also "centered celebration within the activities of the union" (Hardy & Cruz, 2019, p. 253) often holding barbeques after long workshops and sharing small prizes and gifts. All of this was crucial to building and maintaining new affective relations that were fundamental to bringing individualized competitive workers into a collective, and through which an "intimate union" (p. 246) could be built.

Relations between the women were sometimes fraught and "conflict and arguments punctuated the daily life of the union" (Hardy & Cruz, 2019, p. 252) necessitating intervention to restore unity. However, as Hardy and Cruz conclude, AMMAR's work in Córdoba "hold(s) invaluable lessons for locating relationality and care at the center, rather than in the margins, of labor movements as a basis for the wider transformation of social relations in capitalism" (2019, p. 258).

### New media organizing

In their 2020 book *New Media Unions,* Cohen and de Peuter study a wave of unionization across digital and legacy media outlets in the U.S. starting in 2015. In this work they explore "affect's mobilizing force" (p. 27) in "facilitating contexts for the emergence of solidarities" as journalists fought to form new unions from scratch (p. 36).

Following Hennessy's work to describe affective organizing and cultures of solidarity, the authors also identify affective relations as central to labour organizing. From early organizing conversations about common experiences and hopes, to building large networks of trust and solidarity, affective relations produced the collective bonds that enabled people to take action. They point out that these bonds are fragile, and that organizers' affective traits of supportiveness and enthusiasm were crucial to

acknowledging vulnerability and helping workers overcome fear which is "a core challenge of affective organising" (p. 35).

Cohen and de Peuter note how "affect surfaces in the expansion and contraction of workers' sense of what is possible in a given situation" (2020, p. 26). Like in Dean's work above, a growing confidence in collective action can widen the horizon of possibility for workers when they become aware of their power to act. Likewise, social media can also provide material support to organizing workers through online expressions of solidary from allies or the public. This can create energy, connect people and most importantly, reaffirm workers' convictions at vulnerable times in the organizing process when all the cards are on the table.

The authors also distinguish between the dimensions of affect and communication in their work – not in the sense of the old dichotomies between affect and discourse – but to show how they work in tandem. Here they describe affect as operating relationally, as an intensity passing in-between bodies while communication is "the social and material process of the production of meaning" (2020, p. 27) such as face-to-face meetings or publicly posted materials. "Communication is the stuff of mobilizing" while affective relations represent the vital force that energizes momentum (p. 26). In the context of class struggle, scholars Eeva Kesküla and Andrew Sanchez, discussed in the next section, similarly talk about affect as having both aesthetic and emotional content – symbols that are interpreted and recognized among those in the struggle, and an emotional force that can bring new people in (2019).

The journalists in this study reported feeling stressed and emotionally exhausted while also empowered and "finally doing something that matters" (Cohen & de Peuter, 2020, p. 39) throughout the organizing process. This demonstrates the "generative yet fragile" (p. 26) work of affective labour. Fear, for example, can either "frustrate or fuel willingness to take collective action" (p. 44) and this is what makes attention to emotions, feelings and affects so vital in the organizing context.

## Invoking negative affects

While the literature above demonstrates the role of affect in organizing and building cultures of solidarity, we have also seen how affects can dissolve those solidarities. In their study of two unions in Kazakhstan and India, Kesküla and Sanchez

show how when "affects of struggle" or "emotive appeals to languages of struggle" are mobilized by unions to inspire solidarity, they can end up generating an affective basis for critique if unions fail to meet those affective ideals (2019, pp. 116, 112).

The history of trade unions rooted in political struggle is, as Ahmed has phrased it, a history that remains open. As such, unions commonly invoke a history of international socialist struggle through "a discourse of dramatic confrontation" between the forces of labour and capital to legitimate their authority as political actors (Kesküla & Sanchez, 2019, p. 115). In fact, the authors write that "all political institutions have an affective core of some type that creates feelings of purpose, significance, and belonging" (p. 116). When unions mobilize the dramatics of struggle as bureaucratic institutions however, there is often a slippage between those emotive appeals and the "banal, bureaucratic functions that comprise the everyday business of political life in formal sector trade unions" (p. 119). In other words, there is a disconnect between affective proclamations of union power and the slowness of change experienced by many workers in their day-to-day struggles, which unfortunately leads many members to think of their unions as "either corrupt or ineffectual" (p. 110).

Kesküla and Sanchez cite cultural anthropologist Danilyn Rutherford's conception of the affective turn as "inviting closer attention to the 'forces that move people, forces that attract, repel, and provoke'" (2019, p. 116). As the authors have shown, invoking affects *instrumentally* can repel and provoke, undermining a union's connection with their members. Indeed, closer attention to the power of affect makes clear that there is a responsibility in invoking them.

# 2.4. Conclusion

This literature review tracked the emergence of affect theory in cultural studies from its roots in seventeenth century Spinozan philosophy to its recent application to the labour movement with a focus on 'affective organizing.' The early distinction between a philosophical disembodied affect (Massumi) and psychobiological embodied affect (Sedgwick and Frank) at the affective turn in the mid-1990s has given way to a proliferation of scholarship that has both extended and departed from these lineages (Timar, 2019) due to the ephemeral, open, contingent and ambiguous nature of affects. However, Spinoza's basic notion of the body's capacity 'to affect and be affected' remains a constant across the affect theory literature.

The findings have also shown that despite affect theory's place in cultural studies, it has only recently been applied to the context of the labour movement. Yet, there is much to build on in making this connection with regards to the relevance of affect theory to the communicative practice of labour unions, and as an important dimension of working-class struggle. Especially if as McMahon suggests: affective relations of domination require affective relations of resistance (2018).

Hemmings makes the observation that theorists often combine multiple understandings of affect within their theoretical frameworks (2015). This project will follow suit by combining recent affective organizing literature grounded in a materialist framework with a concern not with what affects are, but rather what they *do* (Ahmed, 2004b) and with an emphasis on the importance of sharpening affective attunement (Berlant). It will also take inspiration from a Deleuzian philosophy of affect as a contingent force that's always constructing the world anew. After all, it's from the potential of this promise – of dignity, of a better life – that we do our work in the labour movement.

# Chapter 3. Framework & methodology

This study investigates how affect theory could be put to work in terms of labour's revitalization efforts, and how attention to the affective life of unions may be important to their day-to-day communicative practice. The research proceeds first by discussing the parameters of measuring affects and then defines five *affective dimensions of collective action* for analysis as outlined in the framework for analysis below.

Survey and interview questions were then developed based on this framework to broadly investigate the presence of affective relations at two Western Canadian unions – the BC General Employees' Union (BCGEU) and the Alberta Union of Provincial Employees (AUPE). A random survey of rank-and-file members as well as two interviews with individuals in staff leadership positions at both unions were conducted as described in the methods section below. This chapter concludes with the ethical considerations applied in this work followed by the limitations of the study.

# 3.1. Framework for analysis

## 3.1.1. Measuring affect

Affect is an organizing force which can both build and break the bonds of solidarity. This is why Hennessy argues that "paying attention to the affective investments entangled in organizing is a strategy we cannot afford to neglect" (Hennessy, 2013b, p. xxvi). But as Gregg and Seigworth write, theories of affect not only lack a generalized definition but constitute something of a "methodological and conceptual freefall" (2010, p. 4). This is because affects are "fractious, multiplicitous, and unpredictable" and therefore "not the kind of analytic object that can be laid out on a single, static plane of analysis" (Stewart, 2007, p. 3). So how do we pay attention to something so elusive?

Stewart describes her approach as creating a contact zone for analysis through "a close ethnographic attention to pressure points and forms of attention and attachment" in an effort to become attuned to affect (2007, p. 5). Similarly, Berlant describes affect theory as "a training in paying attention...a way of describing the overdetermining forces that make a scene" (Zarranz et al., 2017, p. 13). This study moves forward on this basis, recognizing that "affective analysis can only ever be approximate" (Nelson, 2019, p. 110).

Raymond Williams' suggestion that "methodologically...a 'structure of feeling' is a cultural hypothesis" describes this approximation (as cited in Sharma & Tygstrup, 2015, p. 24). Making up the "affective elements of consciousness and relationships" as Williams defined it (Sharma & Tygstrup, 2015, p. 23), or a "shared affectsphere" (Berlant, 2011, p. 86) or "affective infrastructure" (Näre & Jokela, 2022, p. 1) as others later described his concept, the structure of feeling constitutes a process of emergence rooted in "particular linkages, particular emphases and suppressions" as the present is lived (Sharma & Tygstrup, 2015, p. 25). What emerges and is composed in this process of becoming present then resonates as the cultural evidence of that hypothesis – in what affects and is affected.

In a similar sense, Massumi "defines affect as something virtual as distinct from something actual" (Stenner, 2019, p. 39) through his reading of Deleuze and describes how after passing from the virtual or potential into the actual or lived presence, affect is "everywhere in effect" (1995, p. 107). As such he says, "affect is indeed unformed and unstructured, but that it is nevertheless highly organized and effectively analyzable (it is not entirely containable in knowledge, but is analyzable in effect, as effect)" (1995, p. 107, see note 2).

Finally, Ahmed's concept of affective economies "approaches emotion as a form of...world making," (Ahmed, 2013, p. 12) not on the basis of what emotions are, but the idea that "emotions *do things*" (Ahmed, 2004a, p. 119, emphasis original). As she explains, "rather than seeing emotions as psychological dispositions, we need to consider how they work, in concrete and particular ways, to mediate the relationship between the psychic and the social, and between the individual and the collective" (2004a, p. 119). For Ahmed, affects are analyzable in their attachment to histories of articulation, in how they "shape the 'surfaces' of individual and collective bodies" and how they move bodies or keep them in place (2013, p. 1).

This thesis incorporates Stewart, Williams, Massumi and Ahmed's scholarship to understand affects as interpreted or analyzed as firstly emerging from indeterminacy while tied to history (affects are constructed), and secondly, approximately measurable

in their *effects*. Therefore, while the limitations of analyzing these aspects through surveys and interviews are further detailed below (Section 3.4), this work uses these methods to assess the way unions construct and circulate affects, and the extent to which those affects register in members' experiences and affective relations are built.

## 3.1.2. The affective dimensions of collective action

In thinking through how to analyze affect, the shape of the transitory social spaces and atmospheres through which affects flow are described above as a 'structure of feeling,' a 'shared affectsphere' or an 'affective economy.' The affect theory literature also includes the "affective dimension' of lived experience" (Marinelli, 2019, p. 22), an "affective infrastructure' shaped by the political cultural economy of emotions and affects" (Näre & Jokela, 2022, p. 4) or "affective fields" (Gregg & Seigworth, 2010, p. 16).

In a more concrete example, Dean describes the affective dimensions of the political party form as the 'affective infrastructure' that provides "the material support for its symbolic location" and the "dynamics of feeling it generates and mobilizes" (2016, pp. 209, 210). In the labour context, Hennessy describes the "affective dimension of organized collective politics" as what she terms 'affect-culture' – that which mediates "the social interactions through which needs are met and subjects are formed" (2013b, p. 56). Overall, the affective form variously refers to "the affective dimensions of experience, conduct and communication" (Stenner, 2019, p. 51).

This thesis adopts the concept of an affective dimension from affect theory and connects it to the affective relations of class struggle apparent during the radical period of working-class resistance as described in Chapter 1 (and brought further into focus below). Taken together, five affective dimensions of collective action that work in interrelated yet distinct ways to produce, mobilize and sustain affective solidarity and collective action are identified in the context of unions. As described below, these include relations that enable the circulation of affects; a shared analysis; union democracy; care and mutuality; and class commitment.

## **Circulation of affects**

Affects are fundamentally relational therefore, in order to affect and be affected, their circulation between "human and non-human bodies and materialities" (Näre &

Jokela, 2022, p. 14) must be possible. This refers to the ways affects flow and resonate through people, objects, texts, practices, sensations, institutions, ambitions or "any number of other things" (Hennessy, 2013b, p. 46; Sedgwick, 2003). For example, in the Right to Live protest camp described above, affects flowed through conversations, a sense of community, signs & banners, messages of public support through social media, the provision of food, solidarity from Finnish residents on-site, the symbolic location of the camp and the soundscape.

Likewise, unions represent a symbolic location of working-class struggle as an affective form. Affects flow and circulate through the practice of organizing, worker meetings, union communication and strikes, as well as through social media platforms and the way a union is portrayed through traditional media channels. As far as those affects impress upon, resonate and accumulate to build affective solidarity among individuals, they can turn "fear and anger into action and hope" (Cohen & de Peuter, 2020, p. 26) or through the transition from 'l' to 'we' on the picket line. This is how in Ahmed's terms emotions do things, they "align individuals with communities – or bodily space with social space – through the very intensity of their attachments" (2013, p. 119).

Within this circulation however, "affects are inherently messy and ambivalent, and they cannot be linearly assessed as leading to either positive or negative outcomes," (Näre & Jokela, 2022, p. 9). Our interactions are shaped "by mood, by atmosphere, by feelings" (Hsu, 2019) that carry positive or negative affective charges in their circulation. This ambivalence necessitates attention to the active management and mediation of affects on the part of those working to keep a collective effort moving forward together. For example, affective management can determine whether an organizing defeat means dejection or doubling down to win. Affective struggle therefore "requires the mobilisation, maintenance and circulation of affects and the capacity of bodies to affect and be affected" (Näre & Jokela, 2022, p. 2).

#### Shared analysis

As Gramsci wrote, "the historical unity of the ruling classes is realized in the state" and the history of subaltern classes therefore is "intertwined with the history of the state and civil society," (1971, p. 52). What this suggests, as Sears writes, is that the elite promote "a particular interpretation of the past with a vision of the future" that promotes the knowledges, beliefs and relations that make their continued domination

possible (2014, p. 7). As such, the dominated must push beyond "narrow cultural categories that explain, justify, and mediate who [they] are" (Hennessy, 2009, p. 311) and instead "make sense of their own experiences (past and present)" (Sears, 2014, p. 7).

The surge of working-class resistance described in Chapter 1 was driven by a shared analysis that enabled the anti-capitalist left to map the system, debate strategies and build repertoires of collective action in resistance (Sears, 2014). Through participation in political meetings and access to radical publications for example, the working class developed a "rudimentary analysis of history, the capitalist economy and how to fight for a better world" (Camfield, 2011, p. 74). This development of a shared analysis beyond 'ruling ideas' is the work of class making and generating class feeling. As E.P. Thompson articulated, "class happens when some men [sic], as a result of common experiences (inherited or shared), *feel* and articulate the identity of their interests as between themselves, and as against other men whose interests are different" (1966, p. 9, emphasis mine).

Hardy and Cruz describe this in the practice of union organizing as bringing workers into a process where they can learn and develop political subjectivities with the capacity for struggle (2018). Where "self-employed sex workers in Argentina possessed no preexisting conceptions of themselves as occupying a shared social location, or even of their labor as [a form of legitimate] work," joining a union enabled them to cultivate a shared analysis through which they claimed their right to organize, to build collective bonds and reject individualism and competition, and to reconstruct their identities as members of the working class deserving of better conditions (Hardy & Cruz, 2018, p. 257).

Articulating working-class interests outside of ruling ideas also creates an alterity and therefore an *affective dissonance* between prevailing conditions and a different vision of social-economic relations – a better life. In this sense, people can be "mobilized politically – through desire – to validate the marginal and create new possibilities for embodiment, historical recognition and alternative histories" (Hemmings, 2015, p. 155). Indeed, it's the absence of a shared analysis, a unifying vision or a set of common goals among the left as it exists today that represents one of the biggest barriers to envisioning new possibilities or mounting a strategic response to the exploitative political, economic

and cultural agenda of neoliberalism (Grossberg, 2010; Sears, 2014). As Camfield writes, "most active union members do not have a clear alternative to the explanations given by employers, politicians and corporate media pundits for what is going on" (2011, p. 101).

This is not to suggest a monolithic or uniform analysis across the left or the working class is possible or desirable. As left history shows, this has been far from the case with a multiplicity of voices, a wide range of organizations and an "ongoing circulation of debate and discussion" that took place among the left in the first half of the twentieth century (Sears, 2014, p. 50). At its base, a shared analysis continually generates and regenerates a "collective political position" (Dean, 2016, p. 200) from which to bridge "self-understanding and possibilities for action" (Sears, 2014, p. 16).

#### Union democracy

As discussed above, Spinoza's theory of affect is concerned with the body's power of acting as related to human freedom and happiness – whether that power is increased, diminished, aided or restrained – in terms of meeting needs and self-preservation. However, because meeting needs is dependent on social relations, "such a power is only made possible in a community in which human affects are guided collectively" (Ahern, 2015, p. 119). It's in this sense that workers formed their own organizations to collectively influence their ability to act, *rather than be acted upon*, and this makes the function of those organizations a matter of democracy.

As industrial unionism began to take hold in the early 1900s in Canada and the U.S., one of the hallmarks of the Industrial Workers of the World's unionism for example, was indeed "democratic control of the organization by its members" (Camfield, 2011, p. 107). As described above, when workers make decisions from the shop floor and call for a slowdown or strike, "it is taken less as a command from above than as a self-exhortation" (Chibber, 2022a, p. 71). In the *doing* that union democracy allows and necessitates, workers build confidence and generate the perspective that enables them to *act*. In this way the "dialectical form of the political subject" (Badiou as cited in Dean, 2016, p. 158) is put into motion as workers learn from their activism in the ongoing process of negotiation, resistance and struggle the pursuit of class recomposition. And in this sense, workers must understand and accept their roles within the union structure for it to be effective (Chibber, 2017).

When the direct action of industrial unionism gave way to contract unionism, the democratic structures that organized the affective intensities of meeting individual and collective needs began to erode. As such, many union members began to lose the kind of "activist and leadership capacities" workers gain from running their own affairs and thinking of the union as being their own (Camfield, 2011, p. 61). This is why much of the recent renewal literature puts democracy at the centre of trade union revitalization.

## Care and mutuality

An underlying theme throughout the literature review is the role of care, support and mutuality in enabling groups to take collective action. The capitalist system makes individuals less directly reliant on others outside their households or families, but when that system fails to meet one's needs through exploitation, those unmet needs can become the basis for political agency as we turn back to one another in resistance. The affective intensities of care are what enables a collective to bond, thrive, and generate "affective attachment in the service of struggle" (Dean, 2016, p. 247).

In the case of AMMAR's organizing efforts, empathy and compassion circulating in the spaces of care and solidarity that the union created "set new affects in motion" among the women (Hardy & Cruz, 2018, p. 251). This occurred through socialization, celebrations and gift giving, game playing and gossip as well as touch, friendship and offers of help that in turn generated feelings of belonging and dignity. It was also care that helped transform many women's relations with one another from conflict and competition on the street to cooperation and collective solidarity. As Dean notes, affective structures can support our collective and egalitarian impulses and diminish dominant tendencies towards self-interest and individualism (2016).

Cohen and de Peuter describe how care featured in new media journalists' strategy to counter the anti-unionism and fear mongering of management. Organizers responded by "emphasizing solidarity, care, and collective power" not just by wearing union buttons and performing mutuality to bosses by visibly gathering together, but through one-on-one conversations to simply ask, 'are you okay?' (2020). Acts of care such as this not only help maintain worker confidence in their efforts and demands but support the general maintenance and continuity of the affective dimension of organizing.

Care and mutuality in the spaces workers clear for opposition are vital to cultivating "bonds based on the shared hardships and pleasures of working-class life" (Camfield, 2011, p. 74) – whether it's checking in on someone's well-being or serving tea on a cold day on the picket line. It's in this way that care of oneself and others becomes a political act of agency and resistance and this is why Hardy and Cruz call for "locating relationality and care at the center, rather than in the margins, of labor movements as a basis for the wider transformation of social relations in capitalism" (2018, p. 258).

#### Class-based commitment

The long-term and difficult work of social change and class-based struggle is "necessarily fragmented and episodic" because the activity of subaltern groups is "continually interrupted by the activity of the ruling groups" (Gramsci, 1971, pp. 54, 55). This fragmentation must be confronted by those willing to commit to carrying the struggle forward – which is typically composed of a "relatively small minority" (Franzosi, 2005, p. 433).

Within the U.S. communist party of the 1930s for example, it was "militants, organizers, agitators and vanguards" that kept the fight alive – the dedicated few who devoted themselves to the cause (Dean, 2016, p. 148). Their work was to maintain the affective infrastructure of the party that held open the space "between the actual and the possible" for its members, thus "making real the possibility of another world" it seemed they could already feel (Dean, 2016, pp. 239, 221). This space also "works[ed] on its members, compelling them to act in their collective interest," each feeling "the inner force of their collective strength as a command or duty (Dean, 2016, p. 237).

Likewise in the context of unions in the radical era, it was the steward layer that made possible the great strike wave before and during WWI (Lichtenstein, 2019) and the shop floor militancy of sit-down strikes and plant occupations in the 1930s and 1940s (Sears, 2014). These radical trade unionists, also referred to as "the militant minority," (Franzosi, 2005, p. 295) represented the "layer of workers with a vision and strategy for how to organize, fight, and win" (Post, 2016). It's also this small minority of activists that commit to holding the line that make possible what appears to be spontaneous rupture – when protests, occupations or other acts of resistance seem to suddenly emerge from nowhere. These eruptions are the result of "networks of communication, learning, memory and solidarity" – "microsystems of struggle" working under the radar that help

"catalyze collective action" when the opportunity arises (Sears, 2014, pp. 37, 9, 36). During an opening, affects can be mobilized that tap into the wider self-interest of a larger majority, driving political action (Mouffe, 2022). In this sense, a class-based culture of resistance must already be in existence for it to emerge more broadly, otherwise there is nothing for the rest of the working class "to plug into during moments of crisis" (Panitch & Gindin, 2009).

From this perspective, unions and other working-class organizations are among the few entities that can support militant minorities or the committed few willing to maintain a critique of capitalist society (MacDonald, 2014) and organize and maintain the capacities for disruptive working-class power more broadly (Uetricht & Eidlin, 2019).

## Conclusion

As Berlant wrote:

just because we are in the room together does not mean that we belong to the room or each other: belonging is a specific genre of affect, history, and political mediation that cannot be presumed and is, indeed, a relation whose evidence and terms are always being contested (2016, p. 395).

Likewise, just because individuals are members of a union does not mean they will necessarily develop attachments to that union or one another in solidarity. The affective relations of solidarity must be continually nurtured and developed, and this study proposes that the five affective dimensions of collective action described above play an important role in that process.

## 3.2. Methods

As already noted above, the elusive and fluid nature of affects and affective relations present methodological challenges for measurement and analysis. As such, this study sought to measure affective relations among union members by *effect*, or in other words, by identifying the extent to which members engaged with the five affective dimensions of collective action as put forward in this study's framework for analysis (see Section 3.1).

To approximately measure those effects, three methods in a sequential design were employed to enable the quantitative findings of the survey to be expanded upon by

qualitative method (Scharrer & Ramasubramanian, 2021). This included a survey of the membership at each union, a content analysis of the survey's open-ended questions, and two interviews with individuals in staff leadership positions at each union. Both survey questions (see Appendix A) and interview questions (see Appendix B) were developed following the literature review and based on the framework for analysis established above.

Because this wasn't a comparative study of unions, the BCGEU and AUPE were chosen based on the researcher's access and familiarity with the unions due to her employment as a communications officer at the BCGEU. This enabled the researcher to approach the study with unique context and insight into communicative processes and practices within these unions. AUPE was also chosen for its similarities to the BCGEU (both represent public and private sector members and are roughly the same size) which proved useful in considering the similarities and differences in the results. The rest of this section will describe why each method was used, the data collection procedure and how the data were analyzed.

## 3.2.1. Surveys

## Rationale

The primary method of data collection was through surveys, a common quantitative research method that explores "relationships or degrees of association between relationships" that are cheap to administer and provide anonymity (Gunter, 2011, p. 242). Given that the population being researched for this study was dispersed throughout the provinces of British Columbia and Alberta, the online self-administered survey method was chosen in order to reach rank-and-file union members across this geographical range.

### Procedure

At the time of the survey, the BCGEU and AUPE represented 85,000 and 100,000 members respectively. According to Scharrer & Ramasubramanian, the sample size required for 95% confidence for a population of that size is 383 responses (2021). To address the fact that not all members have email addresses on file with their unions, a stratified random sample of 10,000 members from each union was invited to take the

survey. Therefore, 10,000 members were randomly selected from each union's list of active members with email addresses on file to receive the survey invitation.

One survey for each union consisting of 20 identical questions (see Appendix A) was created using the SurveyMonkey web survey tool. The surveys were distributed to members at both unions throughout May and June of 2023 and an incentive was offered to take the survey.<sup>6</sup> Together, the surveys received a total of 1,297 responses (777 responses from the BCGEU and 520 responses from AUPE). In addition, there were 964 and 690 comments from members at the BCGEU and AUPE respectively. Before analysis, incomplete surveys were removed as well as responses from bots that attacked the AUPE survey which was distributed first. This vulnerability was corrected for the BCGEU survey by requiring members to enter a password for access, eliminating bot exposure.

## Analysis

Qualitative data from open-ended survey questions was examined using content analysis. First appearing in the 1940s and developed most prominently by communications theorist Harold D. Lasswell (Franzosi, 2008), content analysis is a method of analysing "written, verbal or visual communication messages" (Elo & Kyngäs, 2008, p. 107). It is now used both quantitatively and qualitatively (while not being mutually exclusive), to analyze in a replicable way how elements of a text are situated in, and refer to, a wider cultural context (Rose, 2016). As Krippendorff also notes, content analyses are meant to demonstrate how texts come into being and "mediate between antecedent and consequent conditions," (2019, p. 83). This is particularly apt to this study in terms of how affects are often constructed through histories of articulation (antecedent conditions) and become observable *in effect* through how they shape and move bodies (consequent conditions). As such content analysis "is concerned with meanings, intentions, consequences and context" (Elo & Kyngäs, 2008, p. 107).

The content analysis proceeded using a deductive approach which aims to test "categories, concepts, models, or hypotheses" (Elo & Kyngäs, 2008, p. 111). As such, the analysis set out to answer this study's research questions using the framework for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> To incentivize members to take the survey, upon completion members were entered into a draw at each union to win one of ten SaveOnFoods gift cards worth \$25.

analysis developed for this thesis. The data were imported into the software program NVivo 14 and read through several times before being coded into categories related to the framework such as: 'supports social justice' or 'positive about the organizing model,' etc. (see Appendix C). Quantitative data were analyzed within SurveyMonkey using frequencies and cross-tabulations.

## 3.2.2. Interviews

## Rationale

The secondary method of data collection was through semi-structured interviews. This type of interview was chosen to ensure the questions were guided by the framework for analysis, but also allowed for the knowledge, experience and interpretations of the interviewees to be expressed (Bryman & Bell, 2016). Because the success of interviews normally depends on good rapport and trust, familiarity between the researcher and interviewees presented an advantage to the study (Walling, 2010). Overall, the goal of the interviews was to validate this study's hypothesis that affective relations are more apparent at the organizing level and bring further context to the findings in the literature review.

#### Procedure

Individuals in staff leadership positions were recruited for interviews due to their knowledge of the labour movement in Canada and its current challenges, their direct involvement and knowledge of union organizing, and the communicative environment in which unions strive for renewal. As such, they are uniquely positioned to engage in a conversation about the theoretical underpinnings of this study in relationship to member initiatives and the day-to-day function of their unions.

The semi-structured interviews had five long-form questions (see Appendix B). The interview with the person in a leadership position from the BCGEU was conducted in person on November 21, 2023. The interview with the person in a leadership position from AUPE was conducted over Zoom on December 14, 2023. Each interview lasted approximately 60 minutes and both interviewees elected to be quoted confidentially.

## Analysis

Analysis proceeded based on the study's framework for analysis as described above, however given the smaller volume of data collected, insights and quotes from interviews were reflected directly in the analysis in the next chapter.

# 3.3. Ethical considerations

The ethical dimensions considered for this study revolve mainly around surveying union members. The approach followed the main ethical principles of research of "obtaining informed consent, maintaining anonymity and confidentiality" (Beninger, 2017, p. 58). Anonymity and confidentiality for union members is particularly important in terms of harm as it relates to job security and their relationship to their employer making this key to their ability to participate.

To obtain informed consent, this study clearly demonstrated what constituted consent including what research objectives members will be contributing to (Mattingly, 2005). Subjects of interviews are often unclear as to what the research is really for, especially when being asked personal questions (Walling, 2010). Therefore, steps were taken to make the survey preamble and questions as clear as possible, including the use of plain language to ensure understandability for members with English as a second language. Union leaders were informed that they had the right to refuse to participate, refuse to answer any questions, or withdraw from the study at any time without penalty. They were also given the opportunity to choose whether or not their identity would be disclosed in publications or presentations resulting from this research. All information gathered from the survey and interview processes is securely stored.

# 3.4. Limitations

Regardless of the research methodology, all studies have limitations representing weaknesses that may influence the conclusions. The limitations of this study include the methodological constraints of studying affect already addressed above, the limitations of online surveys, the inherent nature of researcher bias and the scope of the study.

There are three ways the online survey method potentially limited results as representative of affective relations within the unions studied – the relatively small sample size and the risk of bias, the quality of union data, and accessibility. Firstly, this study surveyed two unions in Canada of similar size and composition in terms of the sectors they cover representing a relatively small sample size. While the selection of email addresses was based on a stratified random sample of 10,000 members at each union, there is the risk that "respondents with biases may [have] select[ed] themselves into the sample" (Andrade, 2020, p. 575) meaning that the responses may be skewed when it comes to members' view of their union. However, because the research is easily replicable, surveying members on a repeated or expanded basis could clarify the generalizability of the findings or to reveal trends across labour organizations in Canada. Secondly, because unions rely on employers to provide much of their member data, union data can unreliable and present limitations such as incomplete, missing or out-ofdate data. For this reason, a truly random list of active members to contact about the survey could not be produced. And finally, the disadvantages of online surveys present accessibility limitations that may unintentionally exclude those without reliable access to the internet, or older less digitally-literate individuals (Scharrer & Ramasubramanian, 2021). As well, many union members are newcomers to Canada and are more fluent in languages other than English. While survey guestions were worded with this in mind, the English-only survey may have presented barriers to accessibility.

Researcher bias is inherent to qualitative studies due to the subjectivity a researcher brings to the process in the form of "particular class, gender, racial, cultural, and ethnic community perspective" (Denzin & Lincoln, 2004, p. 21). This makes recognition of bias an important factor to the reliability and validity of research findings, and it is the role of the researcher to be transparent and reflexive about the "processes by which data have been collected, analyzed, and presented" (Galdas, 2017, p. 2). To that end, it's both important and interesting to point out the dynamic in researching trade union revitalization as a staff member of a union. This is because throughout the labour movement literature, union staff (and often union officials) have long been viewed as having an outsized influence over membership activity, holding a privileged position, or interfering with the rank-and-file's ability to democratically run their own affairs (Camfield, 2011). In other words, there can be a conflict of interest between workers and the bureaucratic environment in which union staff operate. That said, the intention of this

project is to consider affect theory's potential role in re-centering workers as the democratic and driving force of their organizations. It is hoped therefore that the researcher's experience as union staff provides useful and meaningful context towards achieving that goal.

Finally, the scope of the research was limited to two unions and the survey questions were not designed to delve deeply into member relations to capture the true vibrancy of the membership and therefore only sampled the surface of these activities. As a result, it is difficult to clearly gauge the depth of affective relations across these two unions. Future research could potentially surface more detailed results by, for example, using this study's framework to study a group of workers over a determined time period, bargaining process, job action or project. The hope instead has been to offer a starting point for thinking about how and why paying attention to the affective life of unions might be important, and how that might be done.

# Chapter 4. Research findings

Guided by the five affective dimensions of collective action defined in Chapter 3, this chapter presents the results of the BCGEU and AUPE member surveys as well as interviews with staff in leadership positions at each union. The surveys examined the extent to which members are coming into contact with one another, sharing, learning, affecting and being affected in a way that builds a culture of solidarity. The interviews further explored the affective dimensions of collective action by focusing mainly on the experiences of workers organizing into their unions and other opportunities for members to work together. Each section briefly recaps the relevance of the survey questions to each affective dimension of collective action before detailing the findings.

# 4.1. Member surveys

## **Circulation of affects**

To determine the extent to which affects or intensities can circulate among union members, and affective relations might grow, the survey asked how members stay connected to their unions, and whether this included communicating with one another. The survey also asked how members perceived messaging about their union in the news or on social media as part of their exposure to the circulation of signifiers connected to their union.

The survey found that the primary way members communicate with their union is through email, with 39% (BCGEU) and 38.3% (AUPE) reporting they use email 'all the time.' However, when it comes to opportunities to connect with fellow members, 76% (BCGEU) and 58% (AUPE) said they rarely or never go to in-person meetings or events. When it comes to connecting directly with a steward, 9.5% of BCGEU members and 5% of AUPE members do so all the time while 31.9% and 22.8% respectively do so sometimes. 11.4% (BCGEU) and 12.8% (AUPE) report staying connected to their union through fellow members.

When asked about their level of interest when a story about their union is in the news or on social media, 34% (BCGEU) and 40% (AUPE) reported being very

interested, while 46.7% (AUPE) and 53.4% (BCGEU) reported being somewhat interested with only 9-10% at both unions reported being uninterested.

## Shared analysis

The survey investigated the degree to which members may have engaged in working-class analysis on two fronts: in struggle through an organizing drive or job action, and by asking whether or not they had engaged in learning and training with fellow members.

The survey confirmed that members at both unions overwhelmingly joined as a result of being hired into unionized jobs – 83.7% at AUPE and 88% at the BCGEU. However, twice as many AUPE members (10.7%) organized in compared to the BCGEU (4.6%). Likewise, a majority of members at both unions (66-67%) have never participated in a strike by walking the picket line themselves, or by supporting other workers on strike.

When it comes to accessing education such as steward training or other workshops and courses, 43.8% (BCGEU) and 42.4% (AUPE) have taken training at least once, with just over half of members at both unions never having accessed it at all. That said, there were 25 combined comments about a lack of education and training and a desire for greater access. As two members said:

I think the union could do more to educate workers on their collective agreement and the options available to them as part of the union.

I think the union does need to build up the level of organizing theory in the wider membership - show how the financialization of housing is grinding the lower classes into the dust.

The survey also looked at shared analysis more broadly from a class-based perspective by asking how members perceive their unions engaging in wider social justice issues – from strengthening public services and occupational health and safety regulations to advocating for affordable housing or childcare programs. The results found overwhelming support for unions working to influence the general direction of society in both B.C. and Alberta, with both unions responding with 85% in support. As several members said:

All of those issues, affordable housing, childcare, etc., all have to do with work.

We are one of the biggest representatives of the working class and as such need to advocate for the working class politically.

Wages are only one aspect of my job. It is important to ensure I have a safe workplace as well. I am proud that my union advocates for strong public services as well.

When it comes to a shared understanding of the issues workers face in their particular fields, most members at both the BCGEU and AUPE agreed that their union has the right ideas about improving conditions. However, others also disagreed or were unsure – an ambivalence that was reflected in survey comments about feeling disconnected and underrepresented due to geographical distance or their union being too large to accommodate everyone's interests such as:

This union is powerful because it is large, but I feel it is out of touch with most employees because it is so big.

## **Democratic functionality**

Union democracy is critical to generating the affective intensities that enable the self-activity and leadership capacities needed to build solidarity and resistance. As such, the survey investigated the degree to which members perceived their union as democratic as well as the extent of their own democratic initiative and participation as members.

Asked whether or not members felt their union was run democratically and in a way that empowers them, 43.6% (BCGEU) and 47.9% (AUPE) said yes. And when asked if they trust their union to work in the best interests of working people *whether or not they were involved*, respectively, 30.9% and 33.6% said they did all the time while another 45.2% and 39% said they did some of the time. Just 10.2% (BCGEU) and 11.8% (AUPE) said not at all. About half of members at both unions (BCGEU 45.9%; AUPE 52.7%) reported rarely or never feeling excluded by the leadership.

Democratic participation also relies on understanding one's role in the process. When asked whether they felt they understood their role as a union member, 52.7% (BCGEU) and 57.3% (AUPE) said they did with length of membership positively correlating to understanding at both unions. For the members who said they did not

understand their role or were unsure, a number of comments suggested that part of it could be due to lack of information as one member wrote:

I know we have elections, but when they happen it's usually a single email and a little blurb about each candidate, so I don't typically vote because I don't truly know anything and can't make a properly informed decision.

Bottom-up approaches to union renewal place the democratic functioning of unions at the centre of those strategies with the view that workers must think of their union as their own. To that end, members were asked what the phrase 'you are the union' means to them, or makes them think about, in an open-ended question. Just over 60% of respondents from both unions commented, and a majority at both unions (BCGEU 58.9%; AUPE 58.1%) either did not agree with the phrase or understand its intention. Disagreement was reflected in negative comments such as:

It's a good catch phrase. That's about it.

It's an empty statement. We are rural and don't feel connected at all.

Misunderstanding was reflected in passive comments such as "we voice our concerns and hope the union acts on the issue" or "we should get a say in our bargaining but our opinion is rarely asked." Another member wrote that the statement means "that whatever policies or agreements the union is doing it is for the best interest of the people."

Those that did agree and demonstrated an understanding of the phrase's intention (BCGEU 37.7%; AUPE 39.3%) used active language such as:

I think it means that you get what you give and that we are the power that makes unions work.

It means that the fight starts at the worksite and that the union is there to supply the resources we need.

It's very much an organization for the people, run by the people.

It takes all workers to be the union and work together to improve working conditions and wages and benefits.

Reactions to the phrase 'you are the union' (and related comments on other questions) also revealed the extent to which members view their union through the 'service-based model' in which the membership is passive with employed union officials

or staff doing most of the work of the union, or the 'organizing model' in which the membership is active in the functioning of the union with union staff providing a supporting role (*Trade Union Futures*, 2016). Of the 421<sup>7</sup> combined comments that reflected either view, 152 signified the servicing model and 269 signified the organizing model as in the examples quoted respectively below:

I'm paying all this money every month for this union and I don't feel like I don't truly understand all that they're doing for me.

It's up to the workforce to collectively move grievances forward. Union supports and helps, but it's a people's movement.

## Care and mutuality

The affective intensities of care are what enables a collective to bond, thrive, and clear space for opposition. The survey touched on care broadly by asking whether members felt their union or other members care about them.

When asked if members felt included, supported and connected to other working people in their union who are committed to shared interests, just 13.2% (BCGEU) and 17% (AUPE) said 'all the time.' At both unions, 42.3% said sometimes while 40-44% said rarely or not at all signifying a member to member disconnect. When asked if they have the sense that their union genuinely cares about their well-being as a worker, a majority of members at both unions agreed.

Thinking about the role of values in generating group affinity, when asked if they thought their values and their union's values were similar, 49.6% (BCGEU) and 53% (AUPE) agreed; respectively, 16.2% and 18.8% disagreed while 34.2% and 28% were unsure.

## **Class commitment**

The survey aimed to get a sense of members' commitment to their union by asking about participation, taking on a union position, as well as their sense of a common identity and pride in their union.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> 274 (BCGEU) and 147 (AUPE).

When asked how many activities supportive of the union members participated in over the previous year (including things like voting on their collective agreement, attending a local union meeting or joining a labour day celebration), 35.3% of members at AUPE and 10.3% of members at the BCGEU reported participating a lot; 35.3% (AUPE) and 60.5% (BCGEU) reported participating a few times, and 29% at both unions reported participating in no activities.

When asked if they would serve on a committee or run for an elected position with their union, 25% of members at both unions said yes, 37% (AUPE) and 39% (BCGEU) said no, and about 30% were unsure. Just 5.3% of respondents from the BCGEU and 7.4% from AUPE said they already had. When asked if they felt they share a common identity and have common goals as members of the working class, 49.3% of BCGEU members and 57% of AUPE members said yes. And when asked whether they felt a sense of pride being part of their union, 50-52% of members at both unions agreed.

# 4.2. Leadership interviews

# **Circulation of affects**

Labour organizing, as the affective organizing literature has described, relies on the delicate balance and maintenance of affective relations. The interviewees reflected this in their answers both in terms of successful organizing drives, and through the difficulty in conducting organizing conversations online when the COVID-19 pandemic kept us socially distanced.

Organizing normally begins with face-to-face, in-person meetings even if it's just one-on-one conversations in kitchens, living rooms or coffee shops:

I'm going to try to prioritize in-person meetings because you can feel the emotion a bit more, pick up on body language, develop a rapport, develop relationships and build trust (Robin, interview, November 21, 2023).

At the start [of organizing], it is all emotion that is not terribly tangible. It's more just like a deep feeling of injustice. And I love it because we can work with that (Jesse, interview, December 14, 2023).

Importantly, when a worker makes contact with a union to organize, they must have a group of workers already behind them. As Jesse said:

If an individual has a bone to pick with their manager, but they don't really have any influence, it won't go anywhere. So, it's our job to figure out whether that is widely felt or not within that worksite. But also, even if it's not necessarily widely felt, does that person have any influence? Could they help make that more widely felt (2023)?

The affects of injustice or unmet needs must be in circulation among a group of workers. "If it's not there, you can't do anything" (Jesse, 2023) as this quote illustrates:

I've been through an organizing drive which was absolutely brutal. When we got towards the time for the vote we ran our numbers and it was very much people of colour against white people. All the white people did not want a union, all the people of colour did [but the groups weren't talking to each other] and so we lost that vote. And years later, they managed to, I think, shift their numbers so they were eventually organized but it took many more years (2023).

When it comes to organizing across multiple worksites it is also important that workers already have relationships to draw on. Workers will say "oh, I know so and so in that building or in that program" (Robin, 2023) and they will reach out to bring them into the discussion. Conversely, both interviewees reported a noticeable drop in affective intensities among workers when they had to rely on online meetings or phone calls to organize during the pandemic:

When you're on a phone or when you're on Zoom, especially as an organizer working with people on those sites, if you can't have that inperson contact it's just luck of the draw just to know what works. Sometimes it works. Sometimes it doesn't. And it's hard to figure out why. It can be done, but then it really does rely on someone really warm and charismatic (Jesse, 2023).

On the importance of affects circulating through media throughout the organizing process, interviewees were split due to the differing labour board protections available to workers in each province. In B.C., workers have more labour board protections around speaking out about their working conditions. Robin described that when a website with the faces of workers that signed union cards was published, more workers felt confident stepping up to sign cards themselves. And when the news media reported on the organizing drive, members saw their stories and demands reflected back on them, empowering them to stay the course. It gave workers "that legitimacy and some protection, to choose to sign a card, knowing that the community and the media and

politicians were watching" (Robin, 2023). Robin noted that organizers don't normally engage media, but:

We wanted to try a new tactic....there was just so much fear [around signing cards] that we had to eventually go public. It definitely helped us get to the threshold that we were trying to achieve (2023).

In Alberta, workers have fewer labour board protections around speaking out about their working conditions. For this reason, Jesse said they would probably not use this tactic at all. "As soon as somebody has their face on something...as soon as someone says they're even remotely pro-union, it puts a target on them" (Jesse, 2023). Jesse commented further on how the media landscape has changed: "No one trusts any media now...and [people] think anything that comes from unions is propaganda anyway" (2023). Touching on the idea of unions developing their own media, Jesse said "it'd be interesting, but it would require unions to work together, and we don't do that so well" (2023).

In terms of spaces for union members to connect and build relationships, Jesse asked, "where are we finding inspiration in each other today?" and noted the lack of working-class cultural spaces like the union hall or labour temple of the past:

I think if we could figure out a way as a labour movement, to go back to the time when we had labour temples, I think it would help a lot. Because, you know, labor temples were originally built as places for folks to hang out with their brothers and sisters and fellow workers. And we don't have anything like that anymore. It was supposed to replace the church because in previous times, that's where all of the community and the social situations came from, the church. And if you wanted to get people involved in unions, you had to kind of go away from the church and have labour temples, and that worked. Now there are no public common areas anymore (2023).

Jesse noted how this would have to be built organically:

And I think the thing is, to build those social situations, you would have to start with places where people are already talking. Of course, it has to be intentional, that we build those spaces, but it has to allow people to organically come in. But we don't have that. And I don't see any way to have that right now (2023).

When it comes to communicating organizing wins to the rest of the membership or to the labour movement more broadly, Robin said there is less of an outward focus: With organizing, we're just thinking about, what do I do to keep these members engaged, we're not thinking outwardly" [about telling the story]. "We don't use [social media] effectively but perhaps we could find ways to use social media to celebrate and share organizing stories to inspire other non-union workers to unionize (2023).

Among the membership there are also "people out there who are doing some spontaneous stuff, but we don't know about it...we need to capture those stories" (Robin, 2023).

# Shared analysis

Coming into the process of organizing, many workers have little knowledge about how unions work and there is also a critical need to meet workers where they are based on their needs and self-interest. For this reason, both interviewees said that coming to a broad working-class analysis, critical of capitalism in particular, is something that might come much later in their membership, if at all. At the organizing stage workers are interested in:

What do I get out of this? Will I get extra pay? Will I lose something? For most people joining the union, it's about wages and it's about feeling disrespected or undervalued by their employer. They want respect, control over their workplace, and acknowledgement that they know how to do their jobs (Robin, 2023).

What draws people into the organizing process and unionization is when workers realize they have a shared *self-interest*. Jumping into class analysis at the earlier stages can in fact "work against people's own self-interest" (Jesse, 2023) as this quote describes:

You don't have to talk about class, you can talk about what you're trying to win, and the fact that winning is more likely when you have a bunch of people doing the same thing. But people that come in and start talking about communism or socialism, oh my, it turns people off immediately. So, I think all of the theory works, that is undoubtedly the case. But it tends to raise people's hackles as soon as you start talking like a theorist (2023).

As Robin put it:

I think that a lot of workers are just like, this is the way it is, my boss is trying to make a profit. And some people accept that. And so that's why it's up to the organizer to ask those questions so workers can come to the conclusion that the working-class interests are not in line with the employer's or the boss's interests. So that's why organizers always say: 'we've got to meet the workers where they're at.' So, the first initial meetings, conversations, [organizers are] just kind of digging, asking them tons of questions about their working conditions and to assess their understanding of what unions are, and what they do – do they think the union can solve their problems with a magic wand or do they believe in collective action (2023)?

Meeting the workers where they're at also means understanding that some

labour movement jargon has affective values that can work against an organizer. As Jesse said:

You can show solidarity without talking about solidarity. And rather than talking about building power, why not talk about building leverage? It is the same thing, but it doesn't have the same connotation (2023).

As well, Jesse explained how discourses can exclude people:

I love to hire young folks, and so they come in, but they wear their class analysis like a badge. And it does not resonate with a ton of people. Maybe other young people who already have those perspectives, but [for others it's problematic because] no one wants to feel stupid. Let's just not make people feel stupid. You can explain the exact same ideas (2023).

Working-class analysis also depends on how workers view unions. "When they see us as a third-party organization that provides benefits, help from a servicing rep, a lawyer, I don't think they're going to analyze themselves as being working class" (Robin, 2023). As well, a lot of white-collar workers "see themselves as being above the working class, and that they actually don't need a union because they're smart and can negotiate their own working conditions with the boss" (Robin, 2023).

Given these dynamics, organizers strive to motivate members to take initial steps to *start* acting like a union:

What I hope is that, when we are organizing a worksite that we can help inspire these workers to act like a union, meaning to act collectively and realize whose side they're on, and that collectively, they can make changes. That they see the union as a tool for social change. That's how I judge if it's a successful certification...are they signing up to be stewards and activists? Are they going to continue to remain a tight unit? And will they continue to organize their worksite and communicate with the workers? A working-class analysis may come much later (Robin, 2023). Similarly, Jesse noted, "I believe in class consciousness. I just don't think we start with that...we don't want to force it on people. If people want to come to that, and they want to have more information [we have union courses]," (2023).

#### **Union democracy**

Both interviewees reported that the organizing process is largely worker-driven and democratic. Conversations at the outset of organizing explain:

Here's what the unionization process looks like, here's where you guys are at, what do you think are the next steps to get to that next level (Robin, 2023)?

When we're just in the card signing phase, it's all about them making decisions – first they've got to map out the worksite – who has power, who are the natural social groupings? And they have to decide on, who's going to talk to certain workers and there's a lot of training involved in how to talk to workers. And then making decisions on, when did they want to meet? How regularly do they want to meet? Who do they want to include in the inside committee (Robin, 2023)?

As Jesse said:

I think you have to listen to the members. And sometimes you're going to make stupid mistakes. But you're there to give them advice. They don't have to follow your advice. But I find that when people are organizing, like honestly, they're happy with what you tell them, and they will get it done (2023).

Having just been through the democratic process of an organizing drive, this is an important time to continue "build[ing] people's confidence" and democratic view of their union (Jesse, 2023). But whether this happens depends entirely on how workers are transitioned into the membership because "if you don't have some kind of segue, yeah, it's really easy for people to just get lost" (Jesse, 2023).

Both interviewees said that their unions strive to make this happen following a drive however, once workers transition into membership, there are several ways tensions arise around democratic control and members' abilities to run their own affairs.

Referring to this study's survey in which 85% of members at both unions said they thought their union should influence the general direction of society, Jesse said:

I don't think that is necessarily indicative of what the folks in elected positions think. That's because rank-and-file folks, they can actually just speak their mind, which is great. Elected folks are not necessarily able to do that, because they know that the couple of people who disagree could potentially make huge issues for them. So, the higher up you get on the elected food chain, the less likely you are to take those kinds of positions (2023).

Other issues with democracy can surface later on with the expiry of a collective agreement and the initiation of the bargaining process in which a member must understand their role to participate, yet there can be a lack of understanding or education around how the process works. For example, you may:

...have a situation where you have the upper level elected who are like, 'you need to get everyone ready for strike.' And then you have organizers and members going, 'people don't even know that we're in bargaining... these are the kinds of resources we need, this is the kind of messaging.' So, democracy still works – but [workers] have to pass that up through their part of the org chart. You have a chapter chair, you have a local chair, and you need to make yourself heard to those people at the upper level (Jesse, 2023).

While much of the recent renewal literature calls for a return to the direct action of the radical era, this is very difficult to achieve in an anti-union political environment such as in Alberta, or when members look to staff reps or their union as a service to make it happen for them. Robin said:

If a request from a member [to make a change] is outside the collective agreement, the servicing rep might tell the member there's nothing that can be done. For some reps this may be because they are strategically concerned with keeping a good relationship with the employer, or because of workload and their limited capacity to help the member problem solve outside the collective agreement. But the members should be thinking: is this a deeply felt, widely held issue and how can we organize around it ourselves (2023)?

### Care and mutuality

The interviewees reported care and mutuality arising more organically than strategically in the organizing process, and dependent on the temperament of the organizer assigned. For example, care surfaces when workers offer "little things like I'll pick you up and take you to that union meeting" or a worker may offer their home as a meeting space (Robin, 2023). It happens when an organizer is "really feeling people's comfort level," or when workers "talk to a staff organizer if to say 'so and so's in trouble, what should we be doing?" (Robin, 2023). Care and mutuality also arises through potlucks and meetings that turn into social events during organizing drives. "I think that that is a more natural part of the initial organizing drive" (Jesse, 2023).

More strategically, care and support comes through in thinking about what workers will do when the boss calls a worker into their office, or there's captive meeting to ask workers about their organizing activities. Workers discuss "how are [we] going to respond to the boss or help each other" (Robin, 2023)?

Overall, both interviewees suggested the need to be more proactive about this aspect of bringing workers together into a process. Robin suggested "we should be more thoughtful about that," and that care and support should be more intentional (2023). We should be asking, "what's the plan for the workers to take care of each other" when *…this happens*"? Robin also said it's very relevant with groups of workers who work in more challenging environments such as in supportive housing where co-workers could be struggling themselves or facing difficulties supporting residents in their care.

Robin also noted how care and mutuality play an important role when it comes to addressing a lack of trust, when people feel they've been "ratted out, or so and so was talking" as often happens (2023).

When it comes to support at the community level, Jesse noted the value of care and mutuality during a strike:

One of the most successful strikes was when the community did come out. They brought their barbecues and they were cooking burgers for the strikers. It was adorable. In fact, everybody is bringing food to the strike line that they've made and it's wonderful (2023).

However, including the community requires engaging in a conversation, acknowledging how they may be affected and offering to provide information about what's going on:

When we look like we're going into a strike situation we do tend to make postcards. We just go drop them in their mailbox or sometimes we knock on their door to give it to them saying we might be going on strike in the next 72 hours, we hope to not inconvenience you, but this is what we're fighting for. If you want to know anything else, please come out to the strike line. So, we do try to include the community in that way (Jesse, 2023). Care and trust also entails that unions speak to members with authenticity and involve them in tangible work that will result in meaningful outcomes. For example, Jesse referenced the phrase '*when we fight we win*.' "When we fight, we have the actual chance to win, which we wouldn't have at all if we didn't fight, but when we fight, *we win*? – lie" (2023). Each time this ideal fails, it produces negative affect leaving workers to potentially think of their union is disingenuous, untrustworthy or ineffectual.

#### **Class commitment**

In the first year after an organizing drive, both interviewees said this is an important time in terms of workers' involvement and activism going forward.

I think in the first year they are quite active. And I think that because of momentum, a lot of people are eager to become stewards or occupational health and safety reps or take education courses (Robin, 2023).

As Jesse said, it's at this point that workers are "literally the most excited that they will ever be in their career as a union activist" (2023). In describing this first year:

The transitional MSO [membership services officer] is there until you get a collective agreement. So, they're there to be creative about how to protect your rights [in the meantime], but also to try and wean people off of being really dependent on the staff organizer. They try to link them up with education courses, different committees, and really be kind of ambassador between those groups. Because it's hard for members to be able to have this person who is like, completely on their side, completely there no matter what to not to having that. And that's super demoralizing for members (Jesse, 2023).

Robin said, in the first year "we are there to guide them" but once that connection

to staff representatives dissolves as they fully transition into the membership, many can end up getting lost (2023).

Once we hand them off to get plugged into the machine, then the organizing culture stops because there's no one asking them questions and prompting them, unless we discover a natural organizer [in the group] but that's very rare (Robin, 2023).

In this sense, Jesse disagreed with the statement by a NewsGuild worker involved in organizing digital journalists in 2020 who said, "the culture established during the organizing phase is the culture that will reproduce itself through time" (Cohen & de Peuter, 2020, p. 32). Staying involved "requires maintenance, just like any relationship" (Jesse, 2023). As Robin said:

That's why we try to identify good leaders during the organizing drive, we definitely encourage them to become stewards. But, it would be interesting to follow them and find out okay, how are they stewarding? Are they stewarding with an organizing lens and how is it going? Do you need anything? What kind of support do you need? Do we do that – no, but maybe we should (2023).

While organizing in the radical era depended heavily on the steward layer which made possible some of the agitation and gains during that time, both interviewees suggested that the steward layer is both important and problematic in terms of member activism. Robin pointed out that even if a newly organized worker becomes a steward, their efficacy also depends on how they learn to do the role:

If the steward had an organizing lens maybe they could be like, hey, this sounds really shitty, we should find out if others are impacted by it. And maybe they start talking to people or they set up a meeting (2023).

However, to move things forward, the steward will probably connect with a staff

rep, and if that rep doesn't also have an organizing lens, the steward might get stuck:

This is because the temp servicing training course, as it is right now, isn't going to teach you [from the organizing lens], so it's really just following the collective agreement. Although now it's kind of changing. I think some newer staff who are teaching the course are trying to say: 'yeah, sometimes the grievance tool doesn't work so you might have to do something outside of the grievance procedure.' But when you're a temp servicing rep you many not do anything too out of the box because you're also worried about your employment (Robin, 2023).

And as Jesse said:

It depends on the union, [but] I think we professionalized this so much that stewards have become less valuable. Because when you're someone on a worksite, and you have the option of having a paid membership services officer that has expertise from the union, or you have the option of talking to someone on your worksite, yeah, you're gonna go for the paid expert (2023).

There is also often a lag between when a group organizes and they get their collective agreement during which time members aren't yet able to become stewards. Instead, both interviewees emphasized bargaining or job action, campaigns and projects

as better focal points for ongoing involvement to generate participation and commitment to their union. As Jesse described:

Strikes are a fantastic way to get [some energy] back, but it depends on how long the strike lasts. Because the longer it drags out, the more likely it is that those that really deeply dislike their co-workers – they kind of forget about that when they get on the strike line, and it becomes like a big family, genuinely – but the longer you're on the strike line, the more those previous relationships start to rear their head (2023).

Outside of organizing or a strike, Jesse said:

There's nothing you can do that is going to be on that level of intensity, but that being said, giving [workers] other things to work on together...because it's not just the high stakes that make a strike or an organizing drive, that's important, but it's the fact that they have to work together on something. And that's what brings the best out of people.

Projects, I'm really just committed to projects that the members think are going to help them, that are structured, that allow them to work together. At least they can start to communicate about something that's tangible, with people with different interests, with different backgrounds, different perspectives on whatever it is, but they're working together to complete a task. And once they like each other, we can start talking about other things. But that actually does scare elected officials sometimes, because that is giving rank-and-file members the ability to do things outside of that hierarchical structure.

If you can give people tasks they like it, it makes them feel like part of something. And not some bullshit like these make work tasks that unions sometimes do. That is demoralizing. If people can't see how the outcome is going to benefit them, they won't want to get involved. But they also want someone, I think everybody wants someone to be in charge (2023).

Similarly, Robin said:

It comes actually to agitation. I think you need a campaign, some sort of focal point to agitate workers around that is a deeply felt, widely held issue. And then give them an ask like: 'will you help do this specific task on this campaign?' Because I think there's a lot of untapped capacity when the union is doing a campaign with a website or a petition, but there's no actual organizing where workers are talking to each other about a deeply felt, widely held issue that they care about.

They need to feel that win. I remember [an organizer] shared a story, I think her name was Taylor. She'd never been an activist and then she took one of our trainings and learned about her rights in her collective agreement. And so, she went into work one day and the manager wanted to schedule whoever they wanted for a vacant shift. And Taylor

said: 'no, we've got to schedule by seniority, and you've got to call the casuals by seniority order.' And management was like: 'no, I can schedule whoever I want.' Her coworkers overheard this conversation and one by one they stood beside Taylor to support her and say: 'Taylor's right, you're wrong. These are the rules in the collective agreement – and here's our proposal: you're going to put a sheet up, people are going to sign up' for whatever the call was. And after that, Taylor signed up to be on the joint labour management committee (2023).

Jesse also described how working together provides good opportunities to build relationships in lieu of the union hall or other working-class gathering spaces. Through projects:

...you can have sneaky social events. Like, let's get together for this meeting to talk about our progress on these specific tasks. And also, since we're here, let's go to the pub afterwards. You almost have to sneak in social situations, which works (Jesse, 2023).

Conversely, without clearly structured ways to engage with their union, members may have difficulty connecting and therefore becoming committed. Robin described a recent site visit where, "they appreciated us dropping in, and we listened to some of their issues. But then that was it. It was like, thanks for dropping by...but it wasn't intentional, and there was nothing to plug them into" (2023).

# Chapter 5. Discussion

This chapter begins with a discussion of three main findings from the surveys and interviews conducted for this work: the limited circulation of working class affects among the rank-and-file; that affective relations are more apparent at the organizing level or within any initiatives where members have to work together; and while many members expressed frustration with union representation in the survey, they did so in a way that suggests they believe in the role of the labour movement and want to engage more deeply. Based on these findings, Sections 5.2 and 5.3 make an argument for why paying closer attention to the affective life of unions is important, thus answering the research questions before concluding the thesis in the final section.

# 5.1. Overview of findings

#### 5.1.1. Affective antagonism

Overall, the member surveys confirmed the hypothesis that the affective dimensions of collective action as defined by this thesis – or the circulation of working class affects – are limited at the rank-and-file level. This was demonstrated most clearly by the reliance on email as the primary mode of communication, a significant number of members saying they *never or rarely* connect with their union in person, and a minority of members reporting that they connect with their union through stewards of fellow members on a regular basis. As well, with a majority of members joining as a result of being hired into a unionized position, and a majority never having been on strike, many members lack the experience of affective solidarity that comes with organizing in or taking job action.

The surveys found more evidence of affective antagonism that can result when "emotive appeals to languages of struggle" (Kesküla & Sanchez, 2019, p. 112) are mobilized by unions to inspire solidarity but fail to resonate with members' direct experience. This was illustrated in Jesse's example of how the labour slogan, 'when we fight, we win' can come across as disingenuous when workers fight and don't win, opening to the potential erosion of affective solidarity. Another member said that communications about union activities *seem* "a lot more 'rah-rah' than they feel" and the following quote reveals how telling workers 'you are the union' can fail to land:

If we are the union, I do not feel empowered/educated on how to approach things. The things I have participated in have not felt effective in obtaining desired outcomes.

The survey also illuminated how affective antagonism can be generated when members actively try to engage, build a relationship or get involved, but their union fails to connect, respond or follow through:

I've never even received anything from my union to welcome me. I don't even have a steward.

They say our opinions matter, but they never return email or phone requests. They don't have meeting in my town, no one lets me know what's going on in the union, I've reached out to numerous people.

#### 5.1.2. Affective organizing

As expected, affective relations at the level of 'affective organizing' as described in the literature review, and discussed in the interviews for this research, are far more apparent as affects are central to these processes. This includes organizing drives, as well as ongoing internal organizing among the membership.

During organizing drives, strong feelings of injustice and the desire to change their working conditions is what brings a group of workers together, making the circulation of affects the basic condition for collective action. Without the circulation of these feelings, "you can't do anything" as an organizer (Jesse). In-person communication is also essential in order to read body language, build rapport and establish trust along with the need to manage feelings and affects that enable the group to continue working together and building momentum. Throughout the process, workers also experience self-activity and have democratic control over their efforts. Care arises organically in the course of working together, but should be centred more intentionally rather than leaving it at the margins (Hardy & Cruz, 2018).

What is less clear, as the interviews revealed, is how the affective relations formed in a successful organizing drive are translated into the experience of union membership. When the organizing culture stops, when there isn't a segue, "it's really easy for people to just get lost" (Jesse). Whether a group of workers remains a tight unit after organizing and carries on "acting like a union" or continues to "organize their worksite and communicate with the workers" without ongoing guidance from the union is an open question (Robin). Organizers often encourage workers to become activists or stewards after organizing. However not only is there limited capacity to follow up to find out how they are doing and if they need any support (Robin), a steward's ability to get things done can depend on what staff they're working with in the union, and whether that staff person is willing or able to assist outside of the grievance procedure. Stewards remain important to the function of unions and could be better supported to play a vital role as this member comment suggested – "we don't have a steward so it's challenging to feel connected to something." However, it appears decades of contract unionism have also diminished the role of stewards as leaders in their worksites. As described in the interviews, many members with worksite issues opt to talk to paid union staff with "expertise from the union" rather than reaching out to their steward (Jesse).

When it comes to a working class shared analysis and union democracy, workers are less likely to experience these dimensions during an organizing drive, and more likely as members through education, committee participation or job actions. Camfield calls strikes "schools of struggle [that can] change those involved" through their experience of working collectively (Camfield, 2011, p. 28). While both interviewees said that a successful organizing drive produces the highest levels of emotion and excitement workers can reach in the experience of unionism – "strikes are a fantastic way to get [a lot of that energy] back" – and get members involved again, or for the first time (Jesse). Since members generally experience more strikes than organizing drives, strikes are important opportunities to exercise the affective dimensions of collective action. Attention to affects can also help guide the process – from managing affective relations, to ensuring that slogans and promises that the union generates authentically reflect members' demands as well as their ability to win them.

Outside of strikes, both interviewees mentioned the importance of campaigns and projects as focal points for involvement. Projects bring members together around something tangible they can do, they create social situations for workers to build relationships and as Jesse said, "once they like each other, we can start talking about other things." Robin also described affect at the heart of campaigns and projects as bringing workers together around a "deeply felt and widely held issue" that gets members talking to each other. Member agency around campaigns and projects, however, can still be constrained by the hierarchical structure of unions.

Most unclear in this research was the class commitment dimension of collective action. While on the one hand it only ever involves a small number of organizers and agitators, the fact that today, most members are not even active in their unions (Sears 41), makes militancy and the possibility of direct action even more unlikely. Supporting this dimension would require a stronger labour movement and working-class culture more widely – or as described in Section 5.2 below, *affective economies of the working class*.

# 5.1.3. Optimism

While many comments in the surveys reflected frustration with union representation, there was often an aspirational tone to these complaints. Many members asked for and wanted more in terms of support, connection and engagement. They said they wanted to see and hear from union leaders and provide their own input and feedback. This demonstrates an appetite to connect more meaningfully, and to be invited into such a space as this particular comment makes most clear:

I am interested in participating in the union and supporting fellow workers, but I have rarely ever seen an entrance point... not even when [my union] was beginning strike actions last year. This was a disappointment and felt a bit alienating. It is strange to want to participate in a union and to be a member and never have anyone approach you about the union or let you know what is happening and how to participate.

Multiple member comments indicated a desire for greater access to education and training. As well, few respondents in the survey said they get too much or irrelevant information. Instead, members complained about a lack of information with which to understand how their union works, and their role as members as the following quotes show:

This is my first time ever working for a union, and I have very minimal knowledge of them. I do not find there is a lot of basic intro information easily accessible for new members to gain knowledge.

I think we should often hold real gatherings, not necessarily strikes, trade unions and workers' representatives can communicate face to face for many times, and even establish a chat group to facilitate communication, know the will of the majority of people, and better serve the people.

I don't think there's enough communication. The boards are outdated and any opportunity to attend union hosted events are always missed. Additionally, I feel [the union] does less for their members of some [areas] than I see for others or even other unions.

I would like to feel more of a connection to my union. Who can I call or email if I have questions?

I feel like the union is not me. It's very large and often I feel disconnected with the union unless I need to complain. It would be nice to be linked in a positive way.

When it comes to union democracy, only a minority of members at both unions outright dismissed the idea that their union was run democratically (16.8% BCGEU; 24.6% AUPE). Most members either said yes, or that they didn't know, which leaves open the potential for better engagement on this front as these two comments show:

I'd say it's run democratically but not very good at empowering.

Yes [it's] democratic, but not especially accessible.

Similarly, on the question around what 'you are the union' means to members,

again, many who commented negatively about the phrase wanted it to mean more, and better resonate with their own experiences:

Good propaganda, which should be true.

Unfortunately the statement is false. The union is an organization that has become too large and top heavy to actually support its members. I would like to emphasize that I truly respect and recognize the role the union has played in protecting workers. I understand how far we have come.

I appreciate the union but feel a disconnect as I work for a small branch that is usually overlooked and not interacted with unless we request the union's presence. This statement doesn't mean much to me and my coworkers.

[This statement] makes me feel guilty because I have no idea what's going on. I don't have time but I'm glad someone's fighting for us.

A high number of members at both unions also indicated significant interest when their union is in the media. Through the lens of affect theory, this suggests an attachment in the sense that they are potentially affected by the 'circulation of signs' related to their union, or that their union produces. Regardless of whether encounters with these signs are binding or antagonizing, this indicates relevance and belonging to the particular social collective (Slaby, 2019) that is their union.

The work of unions "is all about emotion" (Jesse) – from the affective appeals that invoke the history of class struggle to organizing, striking and working together on campaigns or projects that make working life better. And while this is no secret to union organizers and labour practitioners, these findings suggest that through the lens of affect theory, there is an opportunity for unions to take the affective dimensions of collective action more seriously by paying *closer attention* as the next section will detail.

# 5.2. Affective unionism

Unions, of course, make affective impressions all the time whether they are intentional about it or not. Therefore, if we accept that "affect marks a body's belonging to a world of encounters," (Gregg & Seigworth, 2010a, p. 2), then we should pay closer attention to how union members are marked by affective encounters with their union. This entails firstly acknowledging affect as an extra-discursive organizing force within the scope of union communications and with definite outcomes, and secondly, becoming intentional in efforts to mediate those forces as related to union goals and objectives.

The rest of this section will answer this study's first research question by presenting four ways affect theory could be put to work in terms of labour's revitalization by paying closer attention. The first two focus internally with a concern for existing members, and the second two focus externally on what affect theory might afford the wider labour movement as it responds to the post-pandemic moment of working-class resistance.

#### 5.2.1. Affects are the glues and solvents of collective action

We ignore [affective relations] at the risk of losing the ground for collective struggle and the shared horizon of our goals, for they are the glues and solvents of social movement.

-Rosemary Hennessy, Open Secrets

Closer attention shows us how affects can work to fortify and sustain or undermine and weaken collective action which necessitates their management and mediation when workers unite. As already detailed in this study's methodology, how affects shape desire, a scene, or a process is not guaranteed, but as the circulation of signs produces effects we can ask: are our actions generating affects and feelings that are empowering our aims, or diminishing them?

An affective lens reveals how "capacities do not belong to individuals but are about how bodies are affected by other bodies" (Ahmed, 2013, p. 183). Providing mutual aid and support, deciding on a solution or articulating a vision together and celebrating achievements produce affects that solidify bonds of trust and build feelings of power that can enhance workers' desire to push farther. Even when workers experience a setback, strong affective relations can result in a doubling down of resolve to overturn a defeat, channeling the anger roused by inequity into the will to keep fighting. As far as positive affects impress upon, resonate and accumulate, they are central to building affective solidarity among individuals by turning "fear and anger into action and hope" (Cohen & de Peuter, 2020, p. 26).

Conversely negative affects can damage feelings of solidarity such as when affect is used instrumentally by unions to make promises and claims that are not (or never could be) followed through on. For example, just as the collective bargaining of previous eras *made* the working class, it is likewise *unmade* by the undermining effects of concessionary bargaining under neoliberalism (MacDonald, 2014). As scholar lan Thomas MacDonald says, each 'tactical retreat' teaches anti-solidarity and damages morale and unity which affectively undermines the perceived power of the labour movement (2014).

Attention to the glues and solvents of affect also foregrounds the importance of building positive affective relations across an increasingly diverse union membership base. This is because language barriers can keep people in the dark; hate, misogyny and racial discrimination poisons solidarity and collaboration; and lack of inclusion forecloses on diverse perspectives enriching the movement. Failure to acknowledge and address these divides leaves organizing workers with affective fault lines from the start.

#### 5.2.2. Centering the worker

The working class made itself as much as it was made. —E.P. Thompson, *The Making of the English Working Class*  Closer attention helps clarify and reinforce why re-centering the worker is critical to the revitalization of worker associations. In Spinoza's formulation, affect is concerned with the body's power of acting as related to human freedom and happiness. Workers came together to form their own organizations for this reason – to collectively and democratically influence their power to act in their own interests. As such, it matters whether workers feel they have the power to act, or whether they feel they are being acted upon.

Workers feel they are being acted upon when they don't feel they have decisionmaking power as union members, when their input is dismissed or unsolicited, and when they can't make their views known. As one worker put it, "my union tells me how to feel, not me telling them how I feel." The affective resonance of language is also important – workers can feel acted upon when they're excluded or made to feel stupid by theoretical language used by organizers such as in Chibber's description in Chapter 1 of left academics telling workers they don't understand their own needs, or that they have 'false consciousness.' Instead, the fact that working class "activist knowledge begins in the realm of experience and indeed in the body and feelings of the individual" must be respected (Sears, 2014, p. 26).

Affect theorists of the early 2000s such as Cvetkovich were asking, 'how does capitalism feel' as a way to "depathologize negative feelings so that they can be seen as a possible resource for political action" (Cvetkovich, 2012, p. 2). When workers come together their fear, disappointment and outrage, along with their hopes and desires, are their greatest resource for action. With the power to act on these feelings through self-activity, workers can move into important experiences that change them through gaining "politico-organizational experience," (Gramsci, 1971, p. 96). This process builds a self-reinforcing logic whereby workers learn through their experience of making gains together and become more inclined to continue undertaking collective actions (Murray, 2017).

Recentering the worker is to re-centre what the body knows, both in terms of grounded knowledge located at a "specific vantage point within social relations" at the worksite (Sears, 2014, p. 26) and within social struggle more widely.

#### 5.2.3. The affective economy of the working class

In such affective economies, emotions do things, and they align individuals with communities — or bodily space with social space — through the very intensity of their attachment.

-Sara Ahmed, Affective Economies

Attention to theories of affect can also provide insights into broader questions of labour revitalization. Ahmed's key concept of affective economies offers a conceptual model for thinking about how the decline of the labour movement has also been a decline in the circulation of working-class affects.

Ahmed has shown us how "we become invested in social norms" through the circulation and repetition of objects and signs (2013, p. 12). From Marx, Ahmed incorporates the flow and exchange of commodities as an analogy for how, in an economy of feelings, objects of emotions circulate between bodies and objects and accumulate affective value which can be mobilized politically. For example, this occurs when poverty is constructed as a personal failing rather than a reflection of society or when "right-wing discourse encourages resentment against migrants who are constructed as the enemy" (Mouffe, 2022, p. 43).

In the first half of the twentieth century, an economy of working-class feelings around dignity, fairness, solidarity and comradery circulated widely through objects, texts or gestures to construct a 'we,' a group of subjects who identified as the working class which in turn shaped actions, orientations and collective bodies. From as far back as the 1850s until the 1950s, (Camfield, 2011) 'economies of the working class' in Western democracies circulated emotions through culture, publications, gatherings and celebrations, education, art and community spaces in a way that linked workplace and community. Sears describes this through his concept of the 'infrastructure of dissent' – "the means of analysis, communication, organization and sustenance that nurture the capacity for collective action" (Sears, 2005, p. 32). In Canada this variously included workplaces, trade unions, cultural sites, political organizations and labour temples as well as informal community hubs in working-class neighbourhoods and a "communication infrastructure that included books, bookstores and publications, women's, queer, Aboriginal and anti-racist groups" and different kinds of "anti-capitalist organizations" (Sears, 2014, p. 16).

However, just as affective economies are produced as the effects of circulation and accumulation, they can be dismantled or transformed. As such, economies of the working class were slowly dismantled beginning in the second half of the twentieth century through various transformations or dis-accumulations. Cold War tensions had turned communism into a 'dirty word' used to create "a deliberate climate of fear" around holding left wing ideas and engaging in political activism (Sears, 2014, p. 65). Economic growth and the "desire for well-being or the feeling of middle classness" (Muehlebach, 2011, p. 63) displaced working-class feeling for many as the left's affective attachment to collective political struggle began turning towards attachment to individuality. Signifiers like 'socialism' lost the mobilizing power they once had (Mouffe, 2022) and eventually the social meaning of central concepts like 'class' or Marxism were transformed, turned over to the accumulation of negative affective value from which average workers distanced themselves. For example, British Prime Minister Margaret Thatcher declared class a 'communist concept,' advising Britons against collective action and to pull themselves up by their bootstraps instead (Jones, 2013). Finally, neoliberal restructuring through which employers relocated sites of production to where they could pay workers less broke "histories of articulation" (Ahmed, 2013, p. 1) by dislocating workers from "strong union histories" (Sears, 2014, p. 95).

Rebuilding affective economies of the working class – or an infrastructure of dissent – that re-establishes the social weight of the left and working people's "influence on the political, economic and cultural agenda" is long-term, difficult work that could only be done "in forms appropriate to [the] transformed conditions" of the neoliberal consensus (Sears, 2014, pp. 3, 2). However, Ahmed's scholarship on affective economies offers a generative concept from which to consider how that might be approached by considering what emotions do.

#### 5.2.4. Power & affective resistance

All great transformations must be affective in order to be effective. —William Mazzarella, *Enchantments of Modernity* 

Attention to affects is not just to acknowledge them, or realize they're produced (Grossberg, 2010) but to recognize "affect has become one of the key means of sustaining power relations in contemporary" societies (Hipfl, 2018, p. 9). "Always

present, always humming through the immanent field of power relations" (Schaefer, 2019, p. 64), affects, as we have seen, determine the body's power of acting; align, shape and move bodies or collectives; mark some as included and others as excluded; produce what becomes reified as normal and ordinary; and reproduce dominant power relations (Hennessy, 2013b, p. 50). However, it's been right-wing movements, not the left, that have shown a strong ability to mobilize common affects to win power (Mouffe, 2022). Almost three decades ago, Massumi pointed out that the right has always better understood that "power 'feels' before it thinks" (Schaefer, 2019, p. 21), writing:

In North America at least, the far right is far more attuned to the imagistic potential of the postmodern body than the established left, and has exploited that advantage for the last decade and a half. Philosophies of affect, potential, and actualization may aid in finding counter-tactics (1995, p. 105).

Massumi gives the example of U.S. president Ronald Reagan's success as a politician, despite the incoherence of his speech, disregard for detail or his unpredictability. At play was his political manner – the timbre of his voice, the performance of confidence – that, when transmitted into other contexts like the church or the chamber of commerce, landed in those localities where "the Reagan incipience was qualified, given content" (Massumi, 1995, p. 103). Sivanandan similarly describes Thatcherism in Britain as a political form concerned with images. By constructing a new social bloc symbolically around the image of choice bound up in the identity of the so-called "share-owning working class," the electorate began thinking "not in terms of *policies*, but of *images*" with which they could identify and strive for (Sivanandan, 1989, p. 9, emphasis original). Today, image and emotion in politics has only intensified through the "affective politics of digital media" that work to capture attention, polarize debate and influence election outcomes (Boler & Davis, 2018, p. 1).

As the right increasingly focuses on "visuality, narrative and emotions," (Katja et al., 2022, p. 1) Belgian political theorist Chantal Mouffe says the left's rationalist framework has focused too much on mobilizing arguments around good policies and programmes, neglecting the importance of affects and emotions in "mak[ing] people *desire* those policies" (2022, p. 42, emphasis original). This is because, as Mouffe suggests, liberal democratic theory views politics as a "field in which rational consensus will be established through the free exercise of public reason" but this leaves "no space for passions and affective forms of identification" (2022, p. 20). Following Spinoza,

Mouffe concludes that "you do not fight emotions with ideas, but with emotions stronger than those that you want to displace" (quoted in Le Dem, 2017).

If, as Kathleen Stewart writes, "power is a thing of the senses" (2007, p. 84), an engagement with affect theory is an important step towards understanding how "feelings, emotions, affects, moods, and sensations are not [just] cosmetic" (Schaefer, 2019, p. 1). In their production and circulation they generate "forces and powers that create and mobilize political subjectivity" (Williams, 2010, p. 246) in all spheres in which power relations exist, including unions.

# 5.3. Affect theory in labour practice

Beyond the broader implications of this study's look at affect theory and the revitalization of labour unions, this work has also generated insights in terms of its second research question around how attention to the affective life of unionism is important to the day-to-day communicative practice of unions.

#### 5.3.1. Audience segmentation

Closer attention to affects show us their importance in building affective solidarity for collective action, but also how damaging negative affective charges can be to member engagement and solidarity, and that there is a responsibility in invoking them. This can occur when unions make emotive appeals that don't land authentically, feel transactional or that unions can't follow through on. It also occurs when members reach out for support, information or to get involved and they don't hear back. This study's survey found that many new members are not welcomed to their union and have little information about their role or the opportunities of membership. Existing members can have trouble communicating or getting information when they put their hand up to take an action or when they are looking for support from their staff representative.

Establishing affective relations requires connection, engagement, reciprocity and investment in relationship. And while maintaining those relations across a large membership base of 100,000 is not feasible, this study made clear there are specific segments of the membership that could be prioritized in terms of improving engagement, communication and better establishing affective relations. Outside those involved in job

action this includes new members joining through an organizing drive; the (rare) natural organizer identified in a group; new members joining through a new job and that require union orientation; and members that put their hand up to take action on a campaign or project.

#### 5.3.2. Message construction

While theorists of affect initially emphasized that which was "beyond, below and past discourse" (Wetherell, 2013, p. 350), the theory has more recently emphasized how affects and discourse work in relationship. Ahmed presents affective economies, for example, as "social and material, as well as psychic" (2013, p. 46) in looking at how "the cultural politics of language use and discourse mediate social and embodied encounters" (Stonecipher, 2020, p. 1). Cohen and de Peuter distinguish between affect as the vital force that enables people to take action, and discourse or communication as the "social and material process of the production of meaning" (2020, p. 27).

In practice, although a union communication intending to cultivate solidarity or spur action may be received individually, the power of its message will be in the affects produced in relation to other members or individuals implicated in fulfilling the communication's call to action. As we have seen, "capacities do not belong to individuals but are about how bodies are affected by other bodies" (Ahmed, 2013, p. 183). For example, emotional persuasion in a bargaining communication that evokes what members are feeling about their demands, and what they have to do *together* to fight for them, may be far more effective than emotional persuasion around a campaign ask that lacks relationship to others or the potential to build collective capacity from the perspective of the receiver.

As well, the relationship between affect and discourse draws attention to the ways communication "always produces more than what the author intends to say" (Marinelli, 2019, p. 22) due to the non-narrative structure of affect (Hennessy, 2013b). This means that a communication will be interpreted from within the affective field of the receiver – their mood, their feelings about their union, their perception or evaluation of a message's call to action – thus emphasizing the role of context and relevance in effective message construction.

#### 5.3.3. Telling the story

One of the interviewees noted that their union could tell their stories more effectively, perhaps through social media or other means to inspire other non-union workers to unionize. And without a strategy to tell stories internally, many successful, spontaneous direct actions that members carry out at their worksites can often remain unknown to the rest of the membership.

Through the lens of affect theory, this is a missed opportunity to allow the circulation of affects to "*work on* its members...to feed back in and reinforce the affective space" of the union (Dean, 2016, p. 237). When an affective infrastructure is in place to generate and mobilize feelings arising from taking action, winning and building political power, it "affirms our practices and activities and pushes us to do more than we think we can" (Dean, 2016, p. 249). In other words, "collective power works back on those that generate it...to produce enduring bonds of solidarity" (Dean, 2016, p. 249).

Celebrating wins or sharing learnings and stories with others through communications, events, ritual or demonstration is how collective power expands, becomes visible and available to others, and invites bodies to align in collective aims – and should be a communications priority.

#### 5.3.4. Workers' continuity

In his 2022 book, *The Class Matrix: Social Theory after the Cultural Turn*, Vivek Chibber addresses the long-standing question around why a system like capitalism, based on domination and exploitation, continues to experience ongoing stability (Heideman, 2022). For Marx, exploitation leads to resistance which leads to a collective response – a class for itself. Chibber argues that the forces of the class structure actually work in the *opposite* direction, constantly pulling workers apart and making *individual* responses to exploitation more attractive and far easier to achieve than collective responses. He concludes that, "a structural class theory, properly understood, does not predict the inevitability of class formation but rather its uncertainty" (2022, p. 18). Union organizers and communicators often do their jobs within the spaces of that uncertainty in the sense that they must demonstrate to workers that taking a collective

approach will better guarantee their well-being and livelihood than standing still or going it alone.

As affect theory shows us, people are always investing in their continuity through affective attachment to dreams, ideas, an anecdote or an institution that appears to hold out the "promise of reciprocity and belonging" (Berlant, 2011, p. 21). Indeed, as Camfield writes, workers movements are only as effective as they are able to "enhance or at least preserve life value...and have an impact on the ability of people to satisfy their needs" (2011, p. 95).

An affective approach in this sense reminds us of the ongoing importance of authenticity in communication and making promises; speaking to members' concrete problems, frustrations and demands, and to being intentional about demonstrating how engagement with their union is a worthwhile investment in their own continuity.

## 5.4. Conclusion

Union renewal programs and policies which seek to revitalize worker associations have been underway for decades, yet unions have remained some distance from the power and vitality they had at their height in the mid-twentieth century. That said, the impacts of the pandemic have shifted things considerably in just a few short years.

As millions of 'non-essential' workers lost their jobs in the early days of the pandemic, and millions more, deemed essential, were forced to risk their health to continue working on the front lines, workers learned how little they were valued by some employers. When businesses began reopening, labour shortages gave workers and unions the power and negotiating leverage to put greater demands on employers for higher wages and better conditions. And as the cost-of-living crisis continues, so do these tensions as workers refuse to take low paying jobs they simply can't afford. As Ross put it, at this time workers are "trying to articulate a vision for an economy that rethinks the role of working people and what they are owed for their labour" (Innes-Leroux, 2023). All of this has given way to a kind of militancy, labour unrest and public support for unions in Canada, the U.S. and elsewhere not seen in years.

However, the question remains: will unions, institutions still struggling internally with their own vitality after decades of stagnation or decline, be able to meet the moment and translate the hope, commitment and passion of workers leading this surge of militancy and organizing into the experience of union membership – and by extension, a revitalized labour movement more broadly?

This research has argued that closer attention to affects and the insights affect theory brings to thinking about the affective life of union membership could support these efforts. This is because, when the labour movement has been strongest in Canada and elsewhere, it's because the affective dimensions of collective action were also strong. During the mass insurgency of the 1930s to 1940s outlined in Chapter 1, workers were in more direct contact with one another enabling the affects of solidarity to circulate among them like an economy of feeling that drove action; they had a shared analysis that made sense of their direct experiences and they developed political subjectivities for collective struggle; democratic control over their affairs was more common as was

initiating direct action; mutual aid, care and support helped build capacities for resistance within communities; and a commitment to doing the work of class struggle was more evident in militant minorities and the working class more broadly.

Through the lens of affect theory we see that affects must be both considered and managed towards collective aims; that it matters whether workers feel they have the power to act, or whether they feel they are being acted upon; that affective economies of the working class or infrastructures of dissent are essential to rebuilding the movement; and that affects operate to influence power relations with the capacity to construct possibilities for some, and limitations for others. In these ways, affect theory offers something of a finer resolution in perceiving the emotional intensities that circulate, move people, and organize life.

Affect theory also teaches us we are always becoming, being moved and moving others, and we are always constructing reality from a multiplicity of possibilities and openings for political change (Grossberg, 2010). In North America in the early twentieth century, workers did exactly that when "labour was able to figure out how to take advantage of the structural and institutional facts of [that] time and build organizations that brought workers together as a class" (Chibber, 2022a, p. 160). At that particular conjuncture, workers found opportunities for class recomposition and in our own time, the pandemic has undoubtedly created new structural and institutional facts to seize upon.

The role of labour unions in the revitalization of a working-class movement will undoubtedly depend on ardent and visionary leadership – from union leaders to militant minorities – to help create the conditions for new articulations, political subjectivities and collective social relations. But with a view from the membership – among those already organized who may not yet be connected or active in their unions, to those passionately working to organize into unions now – the simple question: *how does union membership feel?* may be an important and possibly transformative one.

# References

Ahern, P. (2015). Echoing Demystified Aspirations: Human Flourishing and the Dialectic of Happiness [Doctor of Philosophy]. Vanderbilt University.

Ahmed, S. (2004a). Affective Economies. Social Text, 22(2), 117–139.

https://doi.org/10.1215/01642472-22-2\_79-117

Ahmed, S. (2004b). The Cultural Politics of Emotion. Edinburgh University Press.

Ahmed, S. (2013). The Cultural Politics of Emotion. Taylor & Francis Group.

Andrade, C. (2020). The Limitations of Online Surveys. Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine,

42(6), 575–576. https://doi.org/10.1177/0253717620957496

Antaya, S. (2015). At War with the Machine: Canadian Workers' Resistance to Taylorism in the Early 20th Century. *The Great Lakes Journal of Undergraduate History*, *3*(1), 7–19.

Basic Education Program. (1975). International Socialist.

- Belshaw, J. D. (2016). *Canadian History: Post-Confederation*. BCcampus Open Education. https://opentextbc.ca/postconfederation/chapter/3-9-the-great-war-and-the-generalstrike/
- Beninger, K. (2017). Social Media Users' Views on the Ethics of Social Media Research. In The SAGE Handbook of Social Media Research Methods (pp. 57–73). SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781473983847
- Berlant, L. (2016). The commons: Infrastructures for troubling times\*. *Environment and Planning* D: Society and Space, 34(3), 393–419. https://doi.org/10.1177/0263775816645989
  Berlant, L., G. (2011). *Cruel Optimism*. Duke University Press.

https://doi.org/10.1215/9780822394716

- Boler, M., & Davis, E. (2018). The affective politics of the "post-truth" era: Feeling rules and networked subjectivity. *Emotion, Space and Society*, 27, 75–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emospa.2018.03.002
- Bonnell, V. E., & Hunt, L. (1999). *Beyond the Cultural Turn: New Directions in the Study of Society and Culture* (1st ed., Vol. 34, p. xi+350-xi+350). University of California Press.
- Bryman, A., & Bell, E. (2016). *Social Research Methods*. Oxford University Press. https://sfuprimo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/primo-

explore/fulldisplay?docid=01SFUL\_ALMA21141594200003611&context=L&vid=SFUL&la ng=en\_US&search\_scope=default\_scope&adaptor=Local%20Search%20Engine&isFrbr=t rue&tab=default\_tab&query=any,contains,Bryman%20social%20research%20methods& sortby=date&facet=frbrgroupid,include,554230029&offset=0

- Buechler, S. M. (1995). New Social Movement Theories. *Sociological Quarterly*, *36*(3), 441–464. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1533-8525.1995.tb00447.x
- Burns, J. (2022). Class Struggle Unionism. Haymarket Books.

https://www.haymarketbooks.org/books/1767-class-struggle-unionism

- Camfield, D. (2011). *Canadian Labour in Crisis: Reinventing the Workers' Movement*. Fernwood Publishing.
- Chibber, V. (2017). Rescuing class from the cultural turn. *Catalyst: A Journal of Theory and Strategy*, 1(1).
- Chibber, V. (2022a). *The Class Matrix: Social Theory After the Cultural Turn*. Harvard University Press.
- Chibber, V. (2022b, March 31). Slavoj Zizek vs Vivek Chibber: What Is Ideology? [Podcast]. *The Jacobin Show*. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rLNSzxzEbKU

- CLC. (n.d.). *1945: Windsor's Ford strike*. Canadian Labour Congress. Retrieved January 10, 2024, from https://canadianlabour.ca/who-we-are/history/1945-windsors-ford-strike/
- Clough, P. T., Halley, J., Kim, H., & Bianco, J. (2007). *The Affective Turn: Theorizing the Social* (pp. xiii–xiii). Duke University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9780822389606
- Cohen, N. S., & de Peuter, G. (2020). *New Media Unions: Organizing Digital Journalists*. Routledge. https://www.taylorfrancis.com/books/9780429449451
- Cvetkovich, A. (n.d.). *Studying Affect*. Faculty of Arts & Social Sciences. Retrieved January 9, 2024, from https://carleton.ca/fass/story/studying-affect/

Cvetkovich, A. (2012). Depression: A Public Feeling. Duke University Press.

https://doi.org/10.1215/9780822391852

Dean, J. (2016). Crowds and Party (2nd ed.). Verso.

Denning, M. (2010). *The cultural front: The laboring of American culture in the twentieth century* (Updated pbk. ed.). Verso.

Denzin, N., & Lincoln, Y. (2004). Handbook of Qualitative Research. Sage.

Egan, D. (2014). Rethinking War of Maneuver/War of Position: Gramsci and the Military Metaphor. *Critical Sociology*, *40*(4), 521–538.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0896920513480222

- Elo, S., & Kyngäs, H. (2008). The qualitative content analysis process. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *62*(1), 107–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x
- Ervin, J. P. (2020). Rethinking base and superstructure, yet again. *Critique*, *48*(4), 369–385. https://doi.org/10.1080/03017605.2020.1850640
- Femia, J. (1982). Review of the book: Gramsci and Marxist Theory by Chantal Mouffe. *The Journal of Modern History*, *54*(1), 72–77. https://doi.org/10.1086/244081

- Fiorito, J., Jarley, P., Delaney, J. T., & Kolodinsky, R. W. (2000). Unions and Information Technology: From Luddites to Cyberunions? *Labor Studies Journal*, 24(4), 3–34. https://doi.org/10.1177/0160449X0002400401
- Flam, H., & King, D. (2005). *Emotions and Social Movements* (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203013526
- Frank, A. J., & Wilson, E. A. (2020). *A Silvan Tomkins Handbook: Foundations for Affect Theory*. University of Minnesota Press. https://doi.org/10.5749/j.ctv182jthz
- Franzosi, R. (2005). War of Movement, War of Position: Labor Strategies for the Next Upsurge. *Critical Sociology*, *31*(3), 433–437. https://doi.org/10.1163/1569163053946318
- Franzosi, R. (Ed.). (2008). *Content Analysis* (1–4). Sage. https://us.sagepub.com/enus/nam/content-analysis/book230609
- Friedman, G. (1993). Review of Making a New Deal: Industrial Workers in Chicago, 1919-1939.
  [Review of *Review of Making a New Deal: Industrial Workers in Chicago, 1919-1939.*, by
  L. Cohen]. *The Journal of Economic History*, 53(2), 446–448.
- Frykman, J., & Frykman, M. P. (2016). *Sensitive Objects: Affect and Material Culture*. Kriterium. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctv1vmnq5r
- Fuller, J., & Kerr, W. (2022, March 23). The Great Resignation Didn't Start with the Pandemic. *Harvard Business Review*. https://hbr.org/2022/03/the-great-resignation-didnt-startwith-the-pandemic
- Galdas, P. (2017). Revisiting Bias in Qualitative Research: Reflections on Its Relationship With Funding and Impact. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *16*(1), 1609406917748992. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917748992
- Gerke, D. (2019). The Long War of Position: Williams and Gramsci, Culture and Crisis. *Key Words:* A Journal of Cultural Materialism, 17, 29–47.

- Goodwin, J., Jasper, J., & Polletta, F. (2000). The Return of The Repressed: The Fall and Rise of Emotions in Social Movement Theory. *Mobilization: An International Quarterly*, *5*(1), 65– 83. https://doi.org/10.17813/maiq.5.1.74u39102m107g748
- Gramsci, A. (1971). Selections from the Prison notebooks of Antonio Gramsci / edited and translated [from the Italian] by Quintin Hoare and Geoffrey Nowell Smith. ([Reprinted].). Lawrence and Wishart.
- Gregg, M., & Seigworth, G. J. (Eds.). (2010). The Affect Theory Reader. Duke University Press.
- Grossberg, L. (2010). Affect's Future: Rediscovering the Virtual in the Actual. In M. Gregg & G. J. Seigworth (Eds.), *The Affect Theory Reader* (p. 0). Duke University Press. https://doi.org/10.1215/9780822393047-014
- Gunter, B. (2011). The quantitative research process. In A Handbook of Media and Communication Research (2nd ed.). Routledge.
- Hall, S. (1980). Cultural studies: Two paradigms. *Media, Culture & Society, 2*(1), 57–72. https://doi.org/10.1177/016344378000200106
- Hall, S. (1988). Brave New World. Marxism Today, New Times, 24–29.
- Hall, S. (2007). Richard Hoggart, The Uses of Literacy and the cultural turn. *International Journal of Cultural Studies*, *10*(1), 39–49. https://doi.org/10.1177/1367877907073899
- Hall, S. (2016). Cultural studies 1983: A theoretical history / Stuart Hall ; edited and with an introduction by Jennifer Daryl Slack and Lawrence Grossberg. Duke University Press.
- Hardt, M. (1999). Affective Labor. *Boundary 2, 26*(2), 89–100.
- Hardt, M. (2007). Foreword: What Affects Are Good For. In P. T. Clough & J. Halley (Eds.), *The Affective Turn: Theorizing the Social*. Duke University Press.

- Hardy, K., & Cruz, K. (2018). Affective Organizing: Collectivizing Informal Sex Workers in an Intimate Union. American Behavioral Scientist, 63(2), 244–261. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764218794795
- Hardy, K., & Cruz, K. (2019). Affective Organizing: Collectivizing Informal Sex Workers in an Intimate Union. *The American Behavioral Scientist (Beverly Hills)*, 63(2), 244–261. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764218794795
- Healy, T. (2015). Rosemary Hennessy, Fires on the Border: The Passionate Politics of Labor Organizing on the Mexican Frontera. *Labour/Le Travail*, *76*, 289-.
- Hébert, G. (2015, March 4). *Strikes and Lockouts*. The Canadian Encyclopedia. https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/strikes-and-lockouts
- Heery, E. (2001). Learning from Each Other: A European Perspective on American Labor. *Journal of Labor Research*, 22(2), 307–319. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12122-001-1036-5
- Heideman, P. (2022, March 19). *Vivek Chibber: "Bad Ideas" Aren't Keeping Workers From Fighting Back*. Jacobin. https://jacobin.com/2022/03/vivek-chibber-class-matrixmaterialist-theory-cultural-turn-wright-gramsci
- Hemmings, C. (2005). Invoking Affect: Cultural theory and the ontological turn. *Cultural Studies*, *19*(5), 548–567. https://doi.org/10.1080/09502380500365473
- Hemmings, C. (2012). Affective solidarity: Feminist reflexivity and political transformation. *Feminist Theory*, *13*(2), 147–161. https://doi.org/10.1177/1464700112442643
- Hemmings, C. (2015). Affect and Feminist Methodology, Or What Does It Mean to be Moved? In F. Tygstrup & D. Sharma (Eds.), *Structures of Feeling: Affectivity and the Study of Culture* (1st ed., pp. 147–158). De Gruyter. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110365481.147
- Hennessy, R. (2009). Open secrets: The affective cultures of organizing on Mexico's northern border. *Feminist Theory*, *10*(3), 309–322. https://doi.org/10.1177/1464700109343254

- Hennessy, R. (2013a). Fires on the Border: The Passionate Politics of Labor Organizing on the Mexican Frontera. University of Minnesota Press. https://doi.org/10.5749/j.ctt5hjk2j
- Hennessy, R. (2013b). Fires on the Border: The Passionate Politics of Labor Organizing on the Mexican Frontera. University of Minnesota Press.

https://muse.jhu.edu/pub/23/monograph/book/28219

- Hipfl, B. (2018). Affect in Media and Communication Studies: Potentials and Assemblages. *Media* and Communication, 6(3), 5–14. http://dx.doi.org/10.17645/mac.v6i3.1470
- Hsu, H. (2019, March 18). Affect Theory and the New Age of Anxiety | The New Yorker. The New Yorker. https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2019/03/25/affect-theory-and-the-new-age-of-anxiety
- Hurd, R. W. (2004). The rise and fall of the organizing model in the US. In *Trade Unions and Democracy*. Routledge.
- Innes-Leroux, M. (2023, September 26). Three strikes: Why today's labour movements will be studied for years. *Brighter World*. https://brighterworld.mcmaster.ca/articles/threestrikes-why-todays-labour-movements-will-be-studied-for-years/
- Jacobin. (2022, March 31). *Slavoj Zizek vs Vivek Chibber: What Is Ideology?* https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rLNSzxzEbKU
- Jones, O. (2013, April 8). *Class War: Thatcher's attack on trade unions, industry and workingclass identity*. Verso. https://www.versobooks.com/blogs/1274-class-war-thatcher-sattack-on-trade-unions-industry-and-working-class-identity
- Just, S. N. (2019). An assemblage of avatars: Digital organization as affective intensification in the GamerGate controversy. Organization (London, England), 26(5), 716–738. https://doi.org/10.1177/1350508419842710

- Katja, F., Frank, G., & Christine, U. (2022). It Just Feels Right. Visuality and Emotion Norms in Right-Wing Populist Storytelling. *International Political Sociology*, 16(4), olac017. https://doi.org/10.1093/ips/olac017
- Kealey, G. S. (1992). State Repression of Labour and the Left in Canada, 1914–20: The Impact of the First World War. *Canadian Historical Review*, 73(3), 281–314. https://doi.org/10.3138/CHR-073-03-01
- Kellner, D. (2021). Cultural Marxism, British cultural studies, and the reconstruction of education. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, 1–13.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00131857.2021.1926982

- Kesküla, E., & Sanchez, A. (2019). Everyday barricades: Bureaucracy and the affect of struggle in trade unions. *Dialectical Anthropology*, 43(1), 109–125. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10624-018-9535-4
- Khoo, A. (2015). The Emergent Political: Affective Social Transformation in Two-Spirit, Queer and Trans People of Colour Media. *Graduate Journal of Social Science*, *11*(1), 38–46.
- Krippendorff, K. (2019). *Content Analysis: An Introduction to Its Methodology* (4th edition.). SAGE Publications, Inc. https://methods.sagepub.com/book/content-analysis-4e
- Kumar, D. (2007). *Outside the box: Corporate media, globalization, and the UPS strike / Deepa Kumar.* University of Illinois Press.
- Kumar, P., Schenk, C. R., & Canadian Electronic Library. (2006). *Paths to union renewal: Canadian experiences / edited by Pradeep Kumar and Christopher Schenk*. Broadview Press. http://deslibris.ca/ID/405125
- Le Dem, G. (2017, August 4). Chantal Mouffe: "We urgently need to promote a left-populism." *Verso*. https://www.versobooks.com/en-ca/blogs/news/3341-chantal-mouffe-weurgently-need-to-promote-a-left-populism

Leys, R. (2011). The Turn to Affect: A Critique. *Critical Inquiry*, *37*(3), 434–472. https://doi.org/10.1086/659353

Lichtenstein, N. (2019, April 7). Assessing 40 Years of Labor Notes. Jacobin.

https://jacobin.com/2019/04/labor-notes-rank-file-kim-moody-jane-slaughter-unions

MacDonald, I. T. (2014). Towards Neoliberal Trade Unionism: Decline, Renewal and Transformation in North American Labour Movements: Towards Neoliberal Trade Unionism. *British Journal of Industrial Relations*, *52*(4), 725–752.

https://doi.org/10.1111/bjir.12040

Marinelli, K. (2019). Three Affect Paradigms: The Historical Landscape of Emotional Inquiry. In Affect, Emotion, and Rhetorical Persuasion in Mass Communication. Routledge.

Martin, C. R. (2004). Framed!: Labor and the corporate media / Christopher R. Martin. ILR Press.

- Marx, K. (1977). A contribution to the critique of political economy. Progress Publishers. https://www.marxists.org/archive/marx/works/1859/critique-poleconomy/preface.htm
- Massumi, B. (1995). The Autonomy of Affect. *Cultural Critique*, *31*, 83–109.

https://doi.org/10.2307/1354446

- Mattingly, C. (2005). Toward a vulnerable ethics of research practice. *Health: An Interdisciplinary Journal for the Social Study of Health, Illness and Medicine, 9*(4), 453–471. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363459305056413
- McAlevey, J. (2016). *No Shortcuts: Organizing for Power in the New Gilded Age* (Oxford University Press paperback.). Oxford University Press. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780190624712.001.0001
- McMahon, J. (2018). Vital Forces: Marx and the Tension of Capitalist Affect. *Lateral*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.25158/L7.1.4

- Molla, R. (2021, December 9). What the first Starbucks union means for workers everywhere. Vox. https://www.vox.com/recode/22825850/starbucks-union-first-organizing-vote-nlrb
- Molla, R. (2022, April 12). Congrats! You formed a union. Now comes the hard part. Vox.

https://www.vox.com/recode/23013840/starbucks-amazon-union-votes-contract Mouffe, C. (2022). *Towards A Green Democratic Revolution*. Verso.

https://www.penguinrandomhouseretail.com/book/?isbn=9781839767500

- Muehlebach, A. (2011). On affective labor in post-Fordist Italy. *Cultural Anthropology*, *26*(1), 59–82. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1548-1360.2010.01080.x
- Murray, G. (2017). Union renewal: What can we learn from three decades of research? *Transfer*, 23(1), 9–29. https://doi.org/10.1177/1024258916681723
- Mussell, S. (2018). *Critical theory and feeling: The affective politics of the early Frankfurt school.* Manchester University Press.

http://dx.doi.org/10.7228/manchester/9781526105707.001.0001

- Näre, L., & Jokela, M. (2022). The affective infrastructure of a protest camp: Asylum seekers'
  'Right to Live' movement. *The Sociological Review (Keele)*, *71*(1), 165–182.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/00380261221102025
- Nelson, J. D. (2019). Governing Bodies: The Affects and Rhetorics of orth Carolina's House Bill 2.
   In Affect, Emotion, and Rhetorical Persuasion in Mass Communication (pp. 106–114).
   Routledge.
- Panitch, L., & Gindin, S. (2009, July 28). *Transcending Pessimism: Rekindling Socialist Imagination*. The Bullet. https://socialistproject.ca/2009/07/b242/

Panneton, D. (2006, February 7). Windsor Ford Strike of 1945.

https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/windsor-strike

- Peck, J. (2001). Itinerary of a Thought: Stuart Hall, Cultural Studies, and the Unresolved Problem of the Relation of Culture to "Not Culture." *Cultural Critique*, *48*, 200–249.
- Picchi, A. (2021). Billionaires got 54% richer during pandemic, sparking calls for "wealth tax." CBS News. https://www.cbsnews.com/news/billionaire-wealth-covid-pandemic-12-trillionjeff-bezos-wealth-tax/
- Ponce de Leon, C. L. (2015). Making Sense of the Postwar Middle Class. *Reviews in American History*, *43*(1), 168–175. https://doi.org/10.1353/rah.2015.0007
- Post, C. (2016, August 8). *The Forgotten Militants*. Jacobin. https://jacobin.com/2016/08/theforgotten-militants
- Price, M. (2017). Engagement Organizing: The Old Art and New Science of Winning Campaigns. UBC Press, On Point Press. https://www.ubcpress.ca/engagement-organizing
- Riedner, R. C. (2006). Review of The Cultural Politics of Emotion [Review of *Review of The Cultural Politics of Emotion*, by S. Ahmed]. *JAC*, *26*(3/4), 700–706.
- Robinson, B., & Kutner, M. (2019). Spinoza and the Affective Turn: A Return to the Philosophical Origins of Affect. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 25(2), 111–117.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800418786312

- Rooney, M., Frank, A. J., & Wilson, E. A. (2020). Interview with Adam J. Frank and Elizabeth A. Wilson, authors of A Silvan Tomkins Handbook: Foundations for Affect Theory (2020). *Australian Humanities Review*, *67*, 1–1.
- Rose, G. (2016). Visual Methodologies: An Introduction to Researching with Visual Methodologies (4th edition.). SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Ruddick, S. (2010). The Politics of Affect. *Theory, Culture & Society, 27*(4), 21–45. https://doi.org/10.1177/0263276410372235

- Saba, R. (2023, December 6). Workers raise the bar: 2023 was a year of wage gains marked by high-profile strikes. CTVNews. https://www.ctvnews.ca/business/workers-raise-the-bar-2023-was-a-year-of-wage-gains-marked-by-high-profile-strikes-1.6675342
- Schaefer, D. O. (2019). *The Evolution of Affect Theory: The Humanities, the Sciences, and the Study of Power*. University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781108765343
- Scharrer, E., & Ramasubramanian, S. (2021). *Quantitative Research Methods in Communication; The Power of Numbers for Social Justice*. Routledge.
- Sears, A. (2005). Creating and sustaining communities of struggle: The infrastructure of dissent. New Socialist, 52, 32–33.

Sears, A. (2014). *The Next New Left: A History of the Future*. Fernwood Publishing.

- Sedgwick, E. K. (2003). *Touching feeling affect, pedagogy, performativity / Eve Kosofsky Sedgwick*. Duke University Press.
- Sedgwick, E. K., & Frank, A. (1995). Shame in the Cybernetic Fold: Reading Silvan Tomkins. *Critical Inquiry*, *21*(2), 496–522. https://doi.org/10.1086/448761
- Shantz, J. (2009). The Limits of Social Unionism in Canada. *WorkingUSA: The Journal of Labor* and Society, 12, 113–129.
- Sharma, D., & Tygstrup, F. (2015). Structures of Feeling. In *Structures of Feeling* (Vol. 5, pp. 20– 26). De Gruyter, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110365481.20
- Sivanandan, A. (1989). All that melts into air is solid: The hokum of New Times. *Race & Class*, *31*(3), 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1177/030639689003100301
- Skolnik, J. (2022, August 6). "Essential workers were invisible": First Trader Joe's union a sign of post-pandemic labor surge. Salon. https://www.salon.com/2022/08/06/essentialworkers-were-invisible-first-trader-joes-union-a-sign-of-post-labor-surge/

Slaby, J. (2019). Affective societies: Key concepts / edited by Jan Slaby and Christian von Scheve. (1 Edition.). Routledge, Taylor and Francis Group.

https://www.taylorfrancis.com/books/9781351039260

Stenner, P. (2019). Bridging the Affect/Emotion Divide: A Critical Overview of the Affective Turn. In Affect, Emotion, and Rhetorical Persuasion in Mass Communication (pp. 34–55). Routledge.

Stewart. (2007). Ordinary affects / Kathleen Stewart. Duke University Press.

- Stiglitz, J. E. (2023, August 31). *Inequality and Democracy | by Joseph E. Stiglitz*. Project Syndicate. https://www.project-syndicate.org/commentary/inequality-source-of-lostconfidence-in-liberal-democracy-by-joseph-e-stiglitz-2023-08
- Stonecipher, R. (2020). Sara Ahmed's Critical Phenomenology of Communication. *Oxford University Press*, 1–33. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190228613.013.588
- Thanthong-Knight, R. (2023, July 4). Gap Between Canada's Rich and Poor Is Widening at Record Pace. *Bloomberg.Com*. https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2023-07-04/gapbetween-canada-s-rich-and-poor-is-widening-at-record-pace

Thompson, E. P. (1966). *The Making of the English Working Class*. Vintage Books.

- Thompson, M. (2021, September 26). *Canada's Essential Workers Fought and Won Against Their Bosses During World War II*. Jacobin. https://jacobin.com/2021/09/canadian-workersauto-ford-manufacturing-wartime-wwii-windsor-strike
- Timar, E. (2019). The body of shame in affect theory and deconstruction. *Parallax (Leeds, England), 25*(2), 197–211. https://doi.org/10.1080/13534645.2019.1607230
- Uetricht, M., & Eidlin, B. (2019). U.S. Union Revitalization and the Missing "Militant Minority." Labor Studies Journal, 44(1), 36–59. https://doi.org/10.1177/0160449X19828470

Walling, J. (2010). The Challenges of In-Depth Interviewing with Disadvantaged Respondents. In E. Hargittai (Ed.), *Research Confidential*. University of Michigan Press. https://doi.org/10.3998/mpub.268873.8

Waterman, P. (1993). Social-Movement Unionism: A New Union Model for a New World Order? *Review - Fernand Braudel Center for the Study of Economies, Historical Systems, and Civilizations, 16*(3), 245–278.

Wetherell, M. (2013). Affect and discourse – What's the problem? From affect as excess to affective/discursive practice. https://sfu-primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/primoexplore/fulldisplay?docid=TN\_cdi\_unpaywall\_primary\_10\_1057\_sub\_2013\_13&context =PC&vid=SFUL&lang=en\_US&search\_scope=default\_scope&adaptor=primo\_central\_mu ltiple\_fe&tab=default\_tab&query=any,contains,Affect%20and%20discourse%20%E2%80 %93%20What%E2%80%99s%20the%20problem%3F%20From%20affect%20as%20exces s%20to%20affective%2Fdiscursive%20practice&offset=0

- Wetherell, M. (2015). Trends in the Turn to Affect: A Social Psychological Critique. *Body & Society*, *21*(2), 139–166. https://doi.org/10.1177/1357034X14539020
- What is the organising model of trade unionism and is it a good or bad thing? (2016). Trade Union Futures. https://tradeunionfutures.files.wordpress.com/2016/11/what-is-theorganising-model.pdf

Williams, C. (2010). Affective processes without a subject: Rethinking the relation between subjectivity and affect with Spinoza. *Subjectivity*, *3*(3), 245–262.

https://doi.org/10.1057/sub.2010.15

Zarranz, L. G., Ledoux-Beaugrand, E., & Berlant, L. (2017). Affective Assemblages: Entanglements and Ruptures-An Interview with Lauren Berlant. *Atlantis (Wolfville)*, *38*(2), 12–17.

- Zhang, L., & Clark, C. (2018). *Affect, Emotion, and Rhetorical Persuasion in Mass Communication* (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781351242370
- Zuurbier, P., & Lesage, F. (2016). *Masamune's Blade: A Proposition for Dialectic Affect Research* (1st, New ed. ed.). Peter Lang Inc., International Academic Publishers.

# Appendix A.

## **Survey Questions**



### Survey Questions Ethics Application #30001423 Labour Renewal Communication

- 1. How long have you been a member of [UNION]?
  - □ 0 to 1 years
  - $\Box$  1 to 5 years
  - □ 5 to 10 years
  - □ 10+ years
  - □ I don't know
- 2. What age group are you in?
  - □ 24 or younger
  - □ 25 to 34
  - □ 35 to 44
  - □ 45 to 54
  - □ 55+
- 3. What sector do you work in? [union dropdown]
- Please indicate how you stay connected to [UNION]:
   In person meetings/events: □ never □ rarely □ sometimes □ all the time

Through other members: □ never □ rarely □ sometimes □ all the time

**Through a steward:**  $\Box$  never  $\Box$  rarely  $\Box$  sometimes  $\Box$  all the time

**Phone calls:**  $\Box$  never  $\Box$  rarely  $\Box$  sometimes  $\Box$  all the time

**Email:**  $\Box$  never  $\Box$  rarely  $\Box$  sometimes  $\Box$  all the time

Zoom meetings or town halls: 

never 
rarely 
sometimes 
never 
never 
sometimes 
never 
neve

Union bulletin board at work: 
never 
rarely 
sometimes 
never 
never 
rarely 
sometimes 
never 
nev

**Union website/member portal:** □ never □ rarely □ sometimes □ all the time

Union social media: □ never □ rarely □ sometimes □ all the time

Other (please specify): [comment box]

- 5. How do you generally feel when you see a story or post about [UNION] in the news or on social media? Please select the statement that best describes your experience:
  - □ You are **very interested**, if your union is in the news, you want to know what the story is about.
  - □ You are **somewhat interested**, it really depends on what the story is about.
  - □ You are **uninterested**, you would flip the channel or keep scrolling to find something more interesting.
  - □ None of the above.
- 6. Thinking of your sector, do you feel [UNION] understands what's happening in the field, the challenges you and your co-workers are facing, and has the right ideas about improving conditions?

 $\Box$  yes  $\Box$  no  $\Box$  I don't know

[comment box]

- Do you feel that [UNION] is run democratically?
   □ yes □ no □ I don't know
- 8. At the most basic level, unionism involves negotiating higher wages and benefits and improving working conditions for workers. However, many unions such as [UNION] engage in wider social justice issues from advocating for affordable housing and adequate sick leave legislation to affordable childcare programs. Do you agree with unions working to influence the general direction of society? Why or why not?
  □ Yes, unions should engage in this work.
- 9. Were you part of an organizing drive, or did you become a member as a result of being hired for your job?

 $\Box$  organizing drive  $\Box$  hired  $\Box$  I don't remember

- 10. Have you ever participated in a strike by walking the picket line with co-workers, or by supporting other workers on strike?
  □ yes □ no □ I don't remember
- 11. Thinking about your membership in the union, please indicate how you feel about the following statements:

I feel included and connected to other working people in my union who are committed to shared interests.

 $\Box$  not at all  $\Box$  rarely  $\Box$  sometimes  $\Box$  all the time

Whether or not I'm involved, I trust my union to work in the best interests of working people.

 $\Box$  not at all  $\Box$  rarely  $\Box$  sometimes  $\Box$  all the time

I feel excluded because the leadership runs the union and it's difficult to have your voice heard.

 $\Box$  not at all  $\Box$  rarely  $\Box$  sometimes  $\Box$  all the time

12. How many activities supportive of the union did you participate in over the previous year? (This can include things like voting on your collective agreement, attending a local union meeting or joining a labour day celebration.)  $\Box$  many  $\Box$  a few  $\Box$  none

- 13. Have you ever accessed union training for education? (This can include things like steward training, occupational health and safety or other workshops and courses.)
  □ once □ a few times □ never □ I don't remember
- 14. Do you feel that you understand your role as a [UNION] member? □ yes □ no □ unsure
- 15. Do you have a union membership card, t-shirt, pen or any other item from the union or with the [UNION] logo?
  □ yes □ no □ I don't know
- 16. Do you feel that union members share a common identity and have common goals as members of the working class?
  □ yes □ no □ unsure
- 17. If asked, would you serve on a committee or run for an elected position with the union? □ yes □ no □ I don't know □ I already have
- Unions often say that you are the union meaning you and your co-workers. What does this statement mean to you or, what does this statement make you think about? [comment box]
- 19. Do you agree or disagree with the statements below:
  - I feel a sense of pride being part of [UNION]?
    - □ Agree/Disagree/Unsure
  - I have the sense that my union genuinely cares about my well-being as a worker.
     Agree/Disagree/Unsure
  - I feel that my values and the [UNION]'s are similar.
     Agree/Disagree/Unsure
- 20. We've covered a wide range of questions and it may have got you thinking about unionization, the labour movement and more. If you have any other thoughts about the questions in this survey, or would like to add something else from your perspective, please do so in the comment box below: [comment box]

# Appendix B.

# **Interview Questions**



### Interview Questions Ethics Application #30001423 Labour Renewal Communication

**Q1:** Referring to the framework outlined for this study, how do you see these dimensions playing out within organizing drives:

- A. How do the intensities or feelings of the organizing experience flow between individuals? (e.g. face-to-face meetings, meals, public messages of support, website, awareness of media).
- B. How do workers analyze their situation, come to conclusions about what to do. Have you experienced workers coming to think of themselves differently as a result? Is the analysis (like power mapping) usually organizer led?
- C. Does decision-making flow democratically? What kind of decision-making tensions arise and how are they resolved? Are there tensions between workers and union officialdom in the organizing phase?
- D. How do workers care for and support one another through the process?
- E. Does the organizing experience result in a commitment by some to engage in the ongoing work of the labour movement? (run for a position, go to convention, join a committee, etc.) How often does that happen?

**Q2:** When an organizing drive is successful, how is this reflected back to the larger membership as evidence of the strength and relevance of the labour movement? Do you feel more could be done to highlight these efforts?

**Q3:** How is the experience of organizing along with the affective intensities it creates (relationships, power, expectations, etc.) carried through to the experience of membership? For example, a NewsGuild worker involved in organizing digital journalists in 2020 said, "the culture established during the organizing phase is the culture that will reproduce itself through time." Does this sound right?

**Q4:** In addition to fighting a hostile employer to form a union, going on strike is one of the other most affective experiences workers can have in building collective bonds, class consciousness and worker power. Of members surveyed, a minority said they have experienced a strike and a fraction said they organized into the union through a drive. For members without those experiences, what do you think are the most effective ways to build affective relations among the membership – whether it's within individual bargaining units, at the local level or across the union. Who leads this work?

# Appendix C.

# Coding Categories (NVivo 14)

Name	^	Files	References
<ul> <li>O C1 communication</li> </ul>		2	203
🔿 advocacy fail		2	8
O affective experience		2	47
🔘 info fail		2	57
O involve fail		2	72
O members disconnected		2	14
🔿 support fail		2	64
🔿 wants more info		2	12
O C2 training		2	25
<ul> <li>O C3 democratic functionality</li> </ul>		1	10
Ocorrupt		2	44
O Dissatisfied representation		2	103
O Excluded		2	96
O Ineffective		1	e
Organizing model		2	269
O Service model		2	152
Ounsure		1	6
○ C3 we are the union hailed		2	304
<ul> <li>O C3 we are the union unhailed</li> </ul>		2	464
○ Angry		1	42
O Passive		1	41
OC4 care and trust		2	29
O org size		2	16
O overwhelmed		2	13
O positive		2	2
O Social justice no		2	66
O Social justice yes		2	126

## Figure C1. Screenshot of NVivo 14 Coding Categories

# Appendix D.

## **Promotional Materials**

#### **Email 1: Survey launch**

#### Subject: Survey: Are you feeling connected to your union?

Win a Save-On-Foods gift card worth \$25 by participating in this short, confidential survey (it takes 8 minutes to complete).

The survey is being conducted by a graduate student at <u>Simon Fraser University</u> in B.C. studying union communication, and who also works for a union. They want to hear your thoughts on communicating with your union, connecting with other members and the role of unions overall.

#### Will you take a few minutes now to fill out the survey? <u>Click here to take the survey</u>

While results will be shared with AUPE, no member data will be collected, and **all responses will remain confidential**. As a thank-you for your time, you can enter to win one of twenty (20) Save-On-Foods gift cards worth \$25 each at the end of the survey.

#### Click here to take the survey

We hope you will share your thoughts and ideas with this project.

Thank you,

#### ---

#### Email 2: Reminder

#### Subject: Survey: Are you feeling connected to your union?

Win a Save-On-Foods gift card worth \$25 by participating in this short, confidential survey.

If you've not yet had the chance, will you take an 8-minute survey for a university research project looking into how members communicate with their union, connect with other members and the role of unions overall? It doesn't matter whether you communicate quite often or very rarely – every union member's input is important.

#### Click here to take the survey

The survey is being conducted by a graduate student at <u>Simon Fraser University</u> in B.C. studying union communication, and who also works for a union. While results will be shared with AUPE, no member data will be collected, and **all responses will remain confidential**. As a thank-you for your time, you can enter to win one of twenty (20) Save-On-Foods gift cards worth \$25 each at the end of the survey.

#### Click here to take the survey

We hope you will share your thoughts and ideas with this project.

Thank you,

### Figure D1. Screenshot of Email Invitations (AUPE version)